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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Good morning.

          3  Welcome, everyone. I am Bill Perkins, Chair of the

          4  City Council's Committee on Governmental Operations.

          5                 Today the Committee will be

          6  conducting a hearing to review Intro. No. 346-A, a

          7  law dealing with creating a local False Claims Act.

          8                 "Qui tam... Tam (speaking in Latin):

          9                 "Who pursues this action on our Lord,

         10  the King's behalf, as well as his own," for those

         11  who may not be up on their Latin.

         12                 Today's legislation creates what is

         13  called "qui tam actions in the law." Since we no

         14  longer have kings, these are actions that private

         15  citizens take out on behalf of the government, the

         16  democracy.

         17                 Appropriately, since there is no

         18  government, we moved from the people, such

         19  individuals are entitled to a percentage of the

         20  amount recovered for the government in such suits,

         21  and such amounts can be used.

         22                 The Federal False Claims Act was

         23  first enacted in 1863 during the Civil War, and was

         24  first called "The Lincoln Law," because the then

         25  President was growing increasingly aggravated by con
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          2  men and scam artists defrauding the union army.

          3                 The Act was given new teeth in 1986

          4  in response to military cold war spending scandals

          5  that plagued Ronald Regan. The Pentagon was paying

          6  $435 for a hammer and $640 for a toilet seat. Such

          7  acts viewed public outrage about how taxpayer money

          8  was being spent and how fraud was prevalent and

          9  unpoliced.

         10                 This legislation reincentivised

         11  private individuals, whistle-blowers, to come

         12  forward and denounce where they saw corruption. The

         13  federal act appears to be very successful, having

         14  recovered over $12 billion since 1986, 2.1 billion

         15  in 2003 alone. The largest court case settled was

         16  $731 million against health care companies, formerly

         17  known as Columbia HCA.

         18                 In December of 2000, HCA's frauds on

         19  the taxpaying public included billing for lab tests

         20  that were not medically necessary and not ordered by

         21  physicians, up-coding medical problems in order to

         22  get higher reimbursement for more serious medical

         23  issues, billing the government for advertising under

         24  the guise of "community education," and billing the

         25  government for non-reimbursable costs incurred
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          2  incurred in the purchase of home health agencies

          3  around the country.

          4                 Following the success of the federal

          5  act in 14 states, the District of Columbia and a few

          6  other localities have enacted versions of the FCA

          7  with qui tam provisions.

          8                 The states have recovered hundreds of

          9  millions of dollars themselves with one of the

         10  largest state FCA cases coming from California, with

         11  187 million from Bank America for improperly

         12  retaining unclaimed medical bonds, which should have

         13  gone to the state if no recipient could be found.

         14                 Such an act in New York City will

         15  save billions of taxpayer dollars and help weed out

         16  corruption and fraud.

         17                 So, today we're going to hear

         18  testimony from a variety of witnesses, experts,

         19  practitioners and good government groups on the act,

         20  on this bill, and at the appropriate time the

         21  original sponsor of the bill will be here to make

         22  some remarks. At this point in time, however, we're

         23  going to swear in our first witness. We want to

         24  thank all of them for their cooperation.

         25                 Mr. Timothy McInnis, taxpayers
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          2  against fraud, and David Golomb, former President,

          3  New York State Trial Lawyers Association.

          4                 Welcome. Please have a seat and be

          5  sworn in.

          6                 MR. TOLLIN: Good morning. Would you

          7  each raise your right hand.

          8                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

          9  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         10  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         11                 MR. McINNIS: I do.

         12                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you.

         13                 Before giving testimony, please state

         14  your name for the record and the organization you're

         15  affiliated with.

         16                 MR. McINNIS: Good morning. My name is

         17  Timothy J. McInnis, and I'm an attorney in private

         18  practice here in New York City, and I represent

         19  whistle-blowers and qui tam lawsuits under a variety

         20  of false claims acts.

         21                 I'm also on the Board of Advisors of

         22  Taxpayers Against Fraud, a non-profit organization

         23  in Washington, D.C., that supports false claims act,

         24  whistle-blowers and their attorneys.

         25                 I'm here today in both capacities to

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  encourage the Council to enact the New York City

          3  False Claims Act. It is my opinion that his act

          4  would go a long way towards fighting fraud against

          5  New York City taxpayers.

          6                 I prepared a statement of my remarks

          7  with the Council, if you would like me to go through

          8  that now.

          9                 There can be no dispute that false

         10  claims laws, similar to the one presented here,

         11  work. They work well in terms of generating large

         12  amounts of money for government treasuries and they

         13  work efficiently in terms of their respective costs

         14  and benefits.

         15                 The federal government currently

         16  recovers on average nearly $1 billion a year from

         17  cases brought under its statute. Additionally,

         18  approximately a dozen states have enacted such laws,

         19  while many other states are currently considering

         20  them, including the State of New York and the Common

         21  Wealth of Pennsylvania.

         22                 California has one of the most

         23  comprehensive state False Claims Act. Texas has

         24  recently fortified its statute and realized large

         25  recoveries. I mention these two states because
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          2  representatives from their Attorney General offices

          3  spoke at an ABA conference on False Claims Act

          4  litigation, which I attended last week in

          5  Washington, D.C., and they described how successful

          6  their programs have become.

          7                 The proposed City False Claims Act

          8  would fill a gap in the aggressive prosecution of

          9  persons and entities who defraud the City of New

         10  York and ultimately the New York City taxpayer.

         11                 The City already has some statutory

         12  weapons in its arsenal to combat municipal fraud,

         13  but none has the three vital components contained in

         14  the proposed in the City False Claims Bill. These

         15  are:

         16                 1) A bounty provision.

         17                 2) A qui tam provision; and

         18                 3) A whistle-blower protection

         19  provision.

         20                 Let me take a minute and explain how

         21  these three provisions interact to produce a very

         22  effective tool in the fight against government

         23  fraud.

         24                 First, the prospect of a bounty is

         25  needed to get persons with information to come
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          2  forward.

          3                 My experience confirms what most

          4  people know intuitively. Many potential

          5  whistle-blowers will not take the risk of sounding

          6  the alarm without the possibility of being rewarded

          7  for doing so, and for good reason. There are both

          8  tangible and intangible costs associated with

          9  blowing the whistle. These include loss of jobs and

         10  income; expenditure of time; payment of legal fees;

         11  and an incredible amount of stress.

         12                 Obviously the City gets information

         13  from citizens acting without regard to their own

         14  financial gain, as well as from wrong-doers who are

         15  cooperating against others for non-monetary

         16  benefits, but nothing will open up the world of

         17  fraud to investigators, prosecutors and civil

         18  enforcement attorneys like the bounty system.

         19                 The City law has a bounty provision

         20  and it is both specific in that there is a share

         21  expressed in a range of percentages of the total

         22  recovery, and it's mandatory, unlike some toothless

         23  bounty provisions that leave it solely to the

         24  discretion of the affected agency to decide whether

         25  to pay a bounty, and if so, how much.
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          2                 Second, the City law has a qui tam

          3  provision. This permits the whistle-blower to

          4  initiate a lawsuit and pursue the case on his or her

          5  own, if for some reason the government chooses not

          6  to use its resources to take over or intervene in

          7  that particular case.

          8                 In short, the qui tam language

          9  empowers the citizen to become a private attorney

         10  general. A qui tam gives the whistle-blower greater

         11  confidence in coming forward because he or she knows

         12  that the ultimate decision of prosecuting the case

         13  rests with them, and it motivates investigating

         14  agencies and helps to ensure they will be responsive

         15  to the whistle-blower's allegations.

         16                 In other words, with a qui tam

         17  provision, there is no chance of a complaint getting

         18  lost in a bureaucratic black hole, where a

         19  whistle-blower is simply getting brushed off.

         20                 As a practical matter, most

         21  successful cases under the federal False Claims Act

         22  are ones where the government intervenes.

         23                 Still, the filing of the action by

         24  the private party starts a judicial process which

         25  puts pressure on the government to conduct a timely
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          2  and thorough investigation before making an

          3  intervention or definition decision.

          4                 As an example of an anemic bounty

          5  law, one need only consider the current federal tax

          6  law for rewarding persons coming forward with

          7  allegations of tax fraud. It lacks a specific

          8  formula for determining the bounty and leaves it

          9  totally to the discretion of the IRS to decide

         10  whether to pay a reward, and if so, how much.

         11                 Additionally, the tax law lacks a qui

         12  tam mechanism. As a result of these two

         13  shortcomings, there are almost no whistle-blower

         14  cases being pursued.

         15                 Because the amount of a recovery is

         16  so small and uncertain, I almost always decline to

         17  take tax whistle-blower cases.

         18                 The third important provision is the

         19  one that protects the whistle-blower against

         20  retaliation. The need for this should be

         21  self-evident. The targets of fraud investigation

         22  frequently feel inclined to take measures against

         23  those people who expose their frauds.

         24                 Most of the time the company

         25  committing the fraud is able to deduce who the
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          2  likely whistle-blower is. A whistle-blower

          3  protection section discourages retaliation against

          4  the whistle-blower and compensates him or her if the

          5  wrong-doer is not deterred.

          6                 This provision is particularly

          7  important for current employees of a company that is

          8  committing a fraud. Often they are the ones with the

          9  best information and in the best position to assist

         10  government investigators.

         11                 Clearly, there is a need for a

         12  statute with the three provisions I have just

         13  outlined. I have been contacted by persons with

         14  knowledge of fraud against the City and have had to

         15  advise them that while they can report the fraud,

         16  there is no means by which they will be reported or

         17  protected for doing so.

         18                 For example, I was contacted by

         19  someone who worked for a company that received City

         20  funding to provide vocational training and

         21  employment assistance to young persons. He brought

         22  me allegations that the recipient of the funds was

         23  not properly training its students, was not

         24  providing them with adequate job placement services.

         25                 The essence of his allegation was
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          2  that the recipient was merely taking the money and

          3  not delivering the promised services. This was a

          4  case that could have been further investigated and

          5  might have yielded a recovery to the City if there

          6  had been a City False Claims Act. It might also have

          7  brought improper practices to a halt.

          8                 Since there was not an applicable

          9  law, the whistle-blower, who was an employee of the

         10  company receiving the program funds, elected to just

         11  let the matter drop.

         12                 I have received similar inquiries

         13  from other people who have strong allegations of the

         14  City being ripped off. In each case I had to explain

         15  to them that if their claims did not involve federal

         16  money, there was simply no way for them to share in

         17  any recovery, or even protect themselves against

         18  retaliation.

         19                 Without a New York City False Claims

         20  Law, there was nothing more they or I could do. That

         21  is how I know there is a need for the proposed

         22  statute.

         23                 To summarize, it is my testimony that

         24  the False Claims Laws have been proven to work

         25  effectively. They work because of the three
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          2  provisions I have discussed. They define the

          3  mandatory bounty provision, a qui tam provision and

          4  a whistle-blower protection provision.

          5                 New York City does not have a False

          6  Claims Act with these provisions on its books. Given

          7  the large amount of money the City spends on goods,

          8  services and programs, and the near certainty that

          9  there is fraud in these areas, the City needs such a

         10  statute.

         11                 I know from personal experience that

         12  Fraud is going undetected because there is no City

         13  False Claims Law. Passing the City False Claims Act

         14  would be a simple and inexpensive way to help

         15  replenish the City's coffers with money obtained

         16  improperly.

         17                 For all these reasons, on behalf of

         18  myself and taxpayers against fraud, I urge the

         19  Council to enact Intro. 346, and would be happy to

         20  answer any questions this Committee might have.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you. Could you

         23  raise your right hand.

         24                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         25  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the
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          2  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 MR. GOLOMB: I do.

          4                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you.

          5                 Could you state your name for the

          6  record and the organization you're associated with?

          7                 MR. GOLOMB: My name is David B.

          8  Golomb. I'm an attorney in private practice in

          9  Manhattan. I'm also a past President of the New York

         10  State Trial Lawyers Association, which is the

         11  largest Bar Association in New York, representing

         12  consumers and civil litigants.

         13                 I'm also a current member, and have

         14  been for many years, of the Executive Committee, and

         15  I'm here on behalf of the Association to hopefully

         16  lend our full support to the passage of the New York

         17  City False Claims Act.

         18                 Our members, myself particularly,

         19  have litigated under the Federal Act upon which

         20  Intro. 346 is modeled, and I believe we have

         21  significant experience with which we can comment

         22  upon this proposed bill.

         23                 The creation of a New York City qui

         24  tam whistle-blower act, would expose, as my

         25  colleague has just said, fraudulent activities that
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          2  cheat New York City taxpayers. Private citizens

          3  would, of course, be authorized to bring actions

          4  against those who defraud the City government and to

          5  recover money on behalf of the City.

          6                 This approach has proven to be

          7  remarkably effective from all aspects at the federal

          8  level, and we certainly urge the Council to

          9  establish such a law here.

         10                 There is no surprise to anyone in

         11  this room that fraud against the government is

         12  widespread. As long as we have had governments, we

         13  have had people attempting to defraud those

         14  governments.

         15                 Qui tam lawsuits were first created

         16  hundreds years ago in England and later imported to

         17  the United States by some of the very first acts of

         18  congress enacted to combat fraud.

         19                 At first qui tam actions were

         20  authorized as a way to supplement the government's

         21  legal enforcement mechanisms, but later, as the

         22  Chairman has noted, under President Lincoln qui tam

         23  lawsuits were codified in a stand alone statute, the

         24  Civil False Claims Act of 1863, which arose for many

         25  of the same reasons that the amendments were made
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          2  just 18 years ago in 1986. Because "the War

          3  Department at that time found itself at the hands of

          4  unscrupulous and corrupt government contractors, the

          5  abuses and damage done to the federal treasury and

          6  war effort was for defense contractors an

          7  opportunity for windfall profit. 'For sugar the

          8  government often got sand; for coffee, rye; for

          9  leather, something no better than brown paper; for

         10  sound horses and mules, spavined beasts and dying

         11  donkeys.'".

         12                 To combat this fraud, and at the

         13  urging of President Lincoln, Congress passed the

         14  Act, and over 100 years later in 1986, after high

         15  profile hearings revealed that the Department of

         16  Defense was being forced to purchase core hammers

         17  for $435, toilet seats for $640 and coffee makers

         18  for a mere $7,600, congress looked again to the

         19  False Claims Act for a solution.

         20                 The 1986 amendments further empowered

         21  ordinary citizens to act as private Attorneys

         22  General by filing qui tam whistle-blower suits

         23  against individuals or entities that had defrauded

         24  or cheated the government.

         25                 The Act allows the government to take
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          2  over the suit once commenced, if it so chooses, or

          3  if it declines, allows the citizen to prosecute the

          4  claim on its behalf.

          5                 Under either scenario the

          6  whistle-blower receives a percentage, a bounty of

          7  any money recovered, with the bulk being returned to

          8  the US Treasury.

          9                 Notably when the amendment was passed

         10  in 1986, the primary force behind it was a

         11  republican senator, the current Senator Grassly.

         12  This was a bipartisan amendment and finally put real

         13  teeth into the bill.

         14                 The federal government and ultimately

         15  the taxpayers has benefitted enormously from the

         16  federal False Claims Act.

         17                 In 1992, for example, a settlement

         18  was reached in a qui tam whistle-blower case that

         19  recovered $110 million from the national health

         20  laboratories, which had billed Medicare for

         21  medically unnecessary tests.

         22                 That case was initiated when an

         23  employee of a competitors' lab tipped off the

         24  government through a qui tam notice to the Attorney

         25  General. The ensuing investigation revealed
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          2  irregular billing practices for many other

          3  laboratories, as well, and a four-year examination

          4  of those other independent laboratories turned up an

          5  additional $800 million in damages in penalties.

          6                 Recently the federal government

          7  announced completion of a settlement with the Health

          8  Care Corporation of American, Columbia HCA. The

          9  largest operator of private hospitals in the

         10  country, bringing the total recovery from that

         11  company in a number of actions, including penalties

         12  and sanctions, to almost $2 billion. That case also

         13  started with a private complaint of the type that

         14  the whistle-blower act proposed here so

         15  appropriately encourages and would foster.

         16                 Intro. 346 appears to be based

         17  largely upon the federal act, including the 1986

         18  amendments. It uses over 150 years of experience in

         19  case law as its backdrop. This False Claims Law

         20  would promote closer scrutiny of those entities who

         21  so blithely would raid government funding sources at

         22  present with virtually no fear of protection, much

         23  less penalization, and would permit the government

         24  to prosecute the claims brought to its attention or

         25  to allow private attorneys general to do so, in
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          2  which case the City would still benefit financially.

          3                 The great bulk of the proceeds from

          4  any such successful suit would revert back to the

          5  City for use as the City determined appropriate.

          6                 The Civil Justice System is a vital

          7  tool, part of the judicial branch of government that

          8  is so critical to the system of checks and balances

          9  established by our State Constitution. With the

         10  simple enactment of the False Claims Law, we can

         11  make more effective use of it to protect taxpayers

         12  from those who would defraud the government.

         13                 NYSTLA hopes to work with the Chair

         14  and with Council Member Yassky in the coming weeks

         15  to strengthen this bill.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         18  much, Mr. McInnis and Mr. Golomb, for your

         19  testimony.

         20                 I want to acknowledge Council Member

         21  Joe Addabbo.

         22                 Let me ask a few quick questions.

         23  Since this is obviously a potentially valuable tool

         24  for the people of the City of New York and

         25  government of the City of New York, in terms of
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          2  stopping fraud, and rewarding those who are citizens

          3  that participate in stopping it, are most of these

          4  cases generated by the company, employees of the

          5  company that may be participating in fraud, or

          6  employees of the governmental entity that has

          7  witnessed fraud; do you understand what I'm saying?

          8  I work for the company and I see what they're doing

          9  wrong. I work for the City, and I see that a company

         10  that we're doing business with is doing wrong, where

         11  does that lie?

         12                 MR. GOLOMB: In my experience, both in

         13  terms of litigating and researching, I cannot say

         14  that they're equal, but I would say it is common for

         15  both. As well as in one of the instances I cited

         16  with the laboratories, a competitor has brought to

         17  light the malfeasance of its competitor resulting in

         18  investigation.

         19                 The bottom line is that by allowing

         20  the reporter, the whistle-blower, to receive a

         21  reward, appropriately so, human beings are well

         22  motivated by such things, we all know that,

         23  everybody is both protected and incentivised to

         24  prevent fraud or to punish fraud which has occurred

         25  and make a recovery on behalf of the City.
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          2                 Everyone wins under a whistle-blower

          3  act, except for the miscreant who deserves to be

          4  punished.

          5                 MR. McINNIS: In my experience, almost

          6  all the cases involved current or former employees

          7  or other non-government people, and this statute has

          8  a provision, I believe, which would actually prevent

          9  someone from serving as a whistle-blower, if their

         10  job was to be like a government investigator or

         11  auditor, which is similar to what's happened on the

         12  federal front.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, the certain

         14  positions within the government are prevented from

         15  participating.

         16                 MR. McINNIS: Right, if your job is --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Is to audit.

         18                 MR. McINNIS: -- Is it audit and

         19  uncover fraud, you can't earn your salary from the

         20  City and also recover a bounty for being a

         21  whistle-blower. I think certain provisos --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So is there a

         23  disincentive there for you to do your job?

         24                 If you're the auditor and I'm not the

         25  auditor, and I uncover some corruption, and I'm
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          2  going to be rewarded on top of my salary, you

          3  uncover corruption as the auditor, and you're not

          4  rewarded.

          5                 MR. McINNIS: Well, I don't know.

          6  Auditors have become auditors for different reasons.

          7  They may not be in it for the money, so-to-speak.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

          9                 MR. McINNIS: And they may be rewarded

         10  in other ways for doing governmental work.

         11                 But a private person with a large

         12  financial incentive will work very hard to have a

         13  successful case.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: But your

         15  experience isn't that it's a disincentive to the

         16  auditor, to the one who has the job --

         17                 MR. McINNIS: Well, it's more than a

         18  disincentive, it's not permitted.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         20                 MR. McINNIS: Unless something were to

         21  happen, like I believe there are exceptions. If the

         22  auditor attempted to defy the fraud within the

         23  government channels and somehow was precluded from

         24  doing that, then he might be able to put on the

         25  whistle-blower hat.

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Our legislation,

          3  Councilman Yassky's legislation, includes former

          4  employees of the City or state and federal

          5  government. You would suggest that not all employees

          6  be given the incentive or be allowed to do this type

          7  of work?

          8                 MR. McINNIS: From my point of view, I

          9  think if someone's job is to detect fraud and

         10  they're getting paid from the City for doing that,

         11  they shouldn't also be able to receive money by

         12  being a whistle-blower.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me also

         14  acknowledge Council Member Michael Nelson, who has

         15  joined us as another member of the Committee. There

         16  are other members more or less on their way,

         17  assuming that they have had an opportunity to

         18  refresh themselves from all night negotiations, and

         19  there are some others in other meetings that are

         20  taking place.

         21                 MR. GOLOMB: Mr. Perkins, if I might

         22  just add to what Mr. McInnis said?

         23                 In Section 9, subparagraph D, which

         24  is part of the provisions for actions being barred,

         25  and it says no person may bring an action based upon
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          2  information discovered by a present or former

          3  employee, I think he's correct because there are

          4  provisos that if the employee first in good faith

          5  exhausted existing procedures, reporting and seeking

          6  recovery for fraudulently obtained monies, then

          7  there would be an eligibility to be a

          8  whistle-blower.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We are joined by

         10  the prime sponsor of this legislation, Council

         11  Member David Yassky, who I would like, if he would

         12  like, to give him an opportunity to have a few

         13  words.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair, Chairperson.

         16                 I just want to first start by begging

         17  your indulgence for my late arrival. I was the

         18  keynote speaker at a graduation for one of my

         19  favorite middle schools, and I can't force their

         20  schedule. But thank you so much, Mr. Chair.

         21                 I want to just say I think that your

         22  holding a hearing on this topic shows great

         23  leadership, because we really, most of the folks

         24  that do business with New York City, upstanding and

         25  honorable, give us good value for the dollar, I have
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          2  no doubt about that. But we also know that

          3  unfortunately from time to time people do try and

          4  abuse the either goodwill of the City procurement

          5  folks, or the fact that they're overstretched, they

          6  don't have the ability to supervise, the ability to

          7  audit that I would like to see the City do. And, so,

          8  I think we need extra help from the private world in

          9  making sure that New York City taxpayers do not get

         10  ripped off.

         11                 The genesis of this bill is that we

         12  have a federal statute, as you have talked about it

         13  in your testimony, the False Claims Act, that has

         14  worked very well for 150 years, in helping the

         15  federal government not get cheated. And I think that

         16  you, in the private bar, can play an invaluable role

         17  in supplementing the efforts of the City in

         18  protecting the rights of taxpayers.

         19                 And I guess my only request or

         20  question would be, and not now, but over the coming

         21  weeks, if you could, if you could give thoughts as

         22  to how the bill can be improved and shaped in a way

         23  that will make it maximally effective, I know that I

         24  certainly, and I'm sure other Council members, would

         25  welcome that feedback.
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          2                 MR. GOLOMB: I would be happy to.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          6  much. And I'm sure you wowed them at the graduation

          7  ceremony.

          8                 This happens to be graduation season

          9  for Council members. One of the wonderful moments of

         10  this job is being able to join your parents and the

         11  kids in their moment of graduation and success, so I

         12  envy you for having the opportunity to do that. I

         13  had to cancel mine today.

         14                 Are there any questions of the other

         15  members of the Committee?

         16                 One of the other concerns I wanted to

         17  ask, what might be some unintended negative

         18  consequences?

         19                 MR. McINNIS: I don't think there are

         20  any. I think this is --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Have there been

         22  cases, for instance, in which people pursue these

         23  claims knowing in fact that there were no legitimate

         24  fraudulent claims or anything like that? Have you

         25  seen or heard of anything, any such unintended
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          2  consequences?

          3                 MR. GOLOMB: I suspect there are

          4  people with bad intentions in every field, but the

          5  reality is that these cases are not simple cases,

          6  they are not inexpensive cases to litigate. And you

          7  have a series of safeguards built into the bill:

          8                 The first is, of course, that the

          9  case does not proceed, even though if I initiated,

         10  or another attorney initiated it on behalf of a

         11  whistle-blower, the case is filed through seal, in

         12  effect, as it is in the Federal Court, at which

         13  point the City, presumably Corporation Counsel,

         14  would review and decide whether it wishes to take it

         15  over, intervene or allow the private litigant to go

         16  forward.

         17                 There are also provisions in the bill

         18  for the City, if it so chooses, to move to dismiss

         19  these over the objections of the whistle-blower's

         20  counsel.

         21                 So, I think there are ample

         22  protections in here. I don't think it's the purpose

         23  of this Committee to get into one of what I view as

         24  the frivolous debates or frivolous litigation, but I

         25  think this is an act which has given rise to what I
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          2  would term as almost 100 percent healthy litigation.

          3                 MR. McINNIS: Yes, could I just

          4  elaborate on that for just one second, in terms of

          5  the safeguards?

          6                 The risk that you're alluding to,

          7  it's I would think the main one, would be that

          8  people are named as targets or defendants, meritless

          9  matters, and there are safeguards here in addition

         10  to the ones that were mentioned, which include that

         11  the statute has a knowing requirement, in other

         12  words, the target of the fraud has to have acted

         13  knowingly, and in other words, it wouldn't be a

         14  simple mistake.

         15                 The other thing is that as a

         16  practical matter the target will invariably have a

         17  chance to present it's side of the story to the

         18  government at an early stage in the matter,

         19  certainly before the government makes its

         20  intervention decision.

         21                 And then just as another thing, just

         22  as a real world aspect of this, these cases tend to

         23  be contingency cases, so lawyers like myself will

         24  screen matters out long before they end up in court,

         25  long before they end up with the government
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          2  investigators.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, generally

          4  speaking, these are cases that will go forward with

          5  merit? They're not at some point determined to be

          6  frivolous?

          7                 MR. McINNIS: Well, there are bad

          8  cases on that front that have gone up, and

          9  unfortunately for us, sometimes they have made bad

         10  law, and we wish they hadn't gone forward, but there

         11  are a number of mechanisms in place to reduce the

         12  number of those kinds of cases, and ultimately, of

         13  course, the courts, even juries, can be the final

         14  decision-maker.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you have any

         16  idea what percentage of these cases are successfully

         17  pursued, as opposed to those which are ultimately

         18  thrown out for good reason or for frivolousness?

         19                 MR. McINNIS: I've heard recently that

         20  the federal government throws out about 80 percent

         21  of the cases that are presented to it.

         22                 I know in my own personal practice,

         23  I've tried to make sure that 100 percent of the

         24  cases I present will be accepted.

         25                 MR. GOLOMB: I believe that 80 percent
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          2  is pre-litigation, during the beginning stages when

          3  the investigations are being performed by the

          4  government after a complaint has been filed.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, screen out

          6  the bad ones, so-to-speak, is what you're saying.

          7                 Now, in your practice that you allude

          8  to, what is your success rate, as you say?

          9                 MR. McINNIS: Well, in terms of

         10  government intervention decisions, right now I'm

         11  batting 1,000.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: What does that

         13  mean, "you're batting..."

         14                 MR. McINNIS: That means that I don't

         15  take cases that I don't think the government will

         16  intervene on. In other words, I only will take a

         17  case that I believe the government will join in.

         18                 MR. GOLOMB: My cases, the government,

         19  I probably haven't handled as many as my colleague,

         20  but the government has declined each one, and I have

         21  made recoveries on each one on behalf of the

         22  government.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The government

         24  has declined? What does that mean, the government

         25  has declined?
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          2                 MR. GOLOMB: They have declined to

          3  take over the case and litigated in which case the

          4  US Attorney would actually become the government's

          5  attorney representing it in the case.

          6                 Instead, in these cases it is I, as

          7  private counsel, litigating the case on behalf of my

          8  client, a private citizen, as a relator for the

          9  United States government.

         10                 At the conclusion of the case, when

         11  money is recovered from the defendants in the case,

         12  in all of these cases health care providers, the

         13  money goes to the government, we receive a

         14  percentage, and in addition there is the possibility

         15  on the cases of statutory attorneys' fees and

         16  sanctions being imposed to boot.

         17                 That's the wonderful thing. That's

         18  the amendment from '86 that put the teeth into the

         19  act, because it gave the financial incentive to the

         20  private citizen to pursue the case even where the

         21  government declined.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me ask one

         23  final question before I go to my colleagues.

         24                 What is the length of these cases?

         25                 MR. McINNIS: I find that, and I tell
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          2  clients that they could expect to be involved for

          3  somewhere between three and five years, and that's

          4  pretty much my experience and what I observed. There

          5  are some that are much longer than that, some that

          6  have been like double digit, and there are a few

          7  that have been less, maybe like two years. But

          8  typically the federal government takes a long time.

          9  And as a standard practice they usually ask almost

         10  immediately for a six-month adjournment in unsealing

         11  the matter in order to allow them to do their

         12  investigation.

         13                 MR. GOLOMB: Councilman, if I might?

         14  My experience, my cases which I have litigated, have

         15  taken substantially less, on average two to three

         16  years. The reason being, that if the government

         17  declines, this becomes in essence conducted the same

         18  way as a private litigation, as if I was suing that

         19  health care provider directly for an injury incurred

         20  by my client, rather than by the government.

         21                 The courts, the Federal Courts treat

         22  us, ordinary civil litigants, with the caveat that

         23  the United States Attorney does have some

         24  involvement even where it has declined in terms of

         25  monitoring and approving the settlement.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          3  much. Council Member Yassky.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes, I wanted

          5  to follow up on some of the questions Chair Perkins

          6  asked about success rate, or how many of these suits

          7  are useful to the government.

          8                 If I understand it under the federal

          9  law, and the proposed City statute it works the same

         10  way, a plaintiff wishing to bring a suit like this

         11  first presents to the federal government and then

         12  the federal government has the opportunity, the

         13  federal government lawyers, Department of Justice,

         14  have the opportunity to decide we like this, we're

         15  going to take it over, in which case the plaintiff

         16  still gets some recovery, although not as much --

         17                 MR. GOLOMB: Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: -- The private

         19  plaintiff, but if the federal government, if the

         20  Department of Justice declines for whatever reason

         21  then the private plaintiff can still pursue it.

         22                 When you were talking about, Mr.

         23  McInnis, you were talking about success rate, you

         24  were saying all of your cases end up being taken

         25  over by the federal government.
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          2                 MR. McINNIS: That's right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But a suit is

          4  successful, even if it's not taken over by the

          5  federal government, if later on a jury, of course,

          6  finds in fact the federal government was ripped off,

          7  it means the feds get, the government, the taxpayers

          8  get some of the recovery and the prior plaintiff

          9  gets some of the recovery.

         10                 MR. GOLOMB: The taxpayers get the

         11  great bulk under either scenario.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Get the vast

         13  bulk of the recovery.

         14                 And I guess my question is, yes, do

         15  you have some sense of if success rate is defined

         16  that way, overall what --

         17                 MR. McINNIS: Yes, I do. The

         18  recoveries in the non-intervention cases are very,

         19  very small as a percentage. I believe under five

         20  percent of the total recovery. Now, in the federal

         21  system that has aggregated into large amounts, I

         22  think it's like $300 million, but as a percentage

         23  it's still quite small. So, you could say 95 or 6 or

         24  7 percent of the recovery --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Are the cases
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          2  where the feds take it over.

          3                 MR. McINNIS: Where the feds intervene

          4  in some way.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But we don't

          6  know, and we may not know because there may not be

          7  anybody to keep track of this, if 100 lawsuits were

          8  brought this year, 100 cases are initiated this year

          9  by private plaintiffs, brought to the feds, how many

         10  of them are successful? Either the feds take them

         11  over and get something, or the feds don't take it

         12  over, the private plaintiff persists and gets

         13  something in the end? That would be, that I think a

         14  measure of success rate, but we probably don't know

         15  that.

         16                 MR. McINNIS: I don't have that data.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Would either

         18  of you, and maybe, Mr. McInnis, you're the better

         19  person to ask, I mean New York City spends about $13

         20  billion a year on procurement. I think it's more

         21  than practically any government, except for the

         22  federal government of California and New York City,

         23  there's 13 billion. If only one percent of that

         24  could be saved due to better enforcement, that's

         25  $130 million, which we all understand, that goes a
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          2  long way; do you have some estimate, some guess of

          3  what the size of the savings might be to taxpayers

          4  from the statute?

          5                 MR. McINNIS: I don't. I really would

          6  be pulling a number out of the air. But there is

          7  going to be a recovery like in the magnitude you're

          8  talking about, but the important thing, the beauty

          9  of this, is that it doesn't cost a lot of money for

         10  the City in order to get that kind of recovery. It's

         11  almost found money.

         12                 MR. GOLOMB: I don't have the data

         13  either. I just think of some of the areas. I mean,

         14  obviously health care contracts are one, but

         15  construction. I mean, we read about scandals at

         16  least half a dozen times a year involving major

         17  construction contracts or the like.

         18                 I think the possibilities are

         19  enormous, just as the federal experience has proven.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You mentioned

         23  construction as an area that you think that one

         24  percent might apply? Health care you think; what

         25  other areas?
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          2                 MR. GOLOMB: I would think contracts

          3  perhaps with our Department of Education. Food

          4  contracts. Services contracts. I think anywhere you

          5  have contracts with substantial dimensions for

          6  outside services, and again, to use my colleague's

          7  phrase, the beauty of the Act is this applies to any

          8  fraud committed in any respect against the City.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm sorry the

         10  City is not here. I'd like to sort of get an idea

         11  how much fraud detection of this type are we getting

         12  with the City's own investigative staff, whether it

         13  be our auditors, whoever the case may be? I know

         14  occasionally we hear these scandalous stories about

         15  food contracts at the Department of Education or

         16  something like that; do you have any idea what the

         17  City's batting average is so-to-speak?

         18                 MR. GOLOMB: I know that almost 30

         19  years ago I worked for Nick Scoppetta, when he was

         20  with the Department of Investigation, as well as

         21  being Deputy Mayor, and that's about when the

         22  Inspector General System was really being set up in

         23  full bloom. But I think that's where one would have

         24  to try and get that information.

         25                 MR. McINNIS: If I could just address
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          2  another comment you made about, or question about

          3  the types of areas where there could be recoveries?

          4                 It's almost limitless. Taxpayers

          5  against Fraud puts out a quarterly journal and in it

          6  they list recent developments and settlement and

          7  things like that. And I looked through that and it's

          8  just absolutely amazing. And I think of the phrase,

          9  you know, "how do I love thee, let me count the

         10  ways," but I convert it for my own purposes, how do

         11  they defraud us, let me count the ways, because it

         12  really is extraordinary, you just leap through this

         13  and sometimes it's individuals, sometimes it's

         14  companies, and big companies, and it involves the

         15  whole gamut of services and programs and procurement

         16  contracts.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Most of your

         18  work has been on the federal level.

         19                 MR. GOLOMB: Well, there is no state

         20  act yet, although we've been supporting that as

         21  well.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I thought there

         23  was some local --

         24                 MR. McINNIS: Right. I have a case

         25  that's filed both with the federal government and
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          2  with the State of Texas currently pending.

          3                 MR. GOLOMB: New York does not have a

          4  statute.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And there's no

          6  municipalities that are pursuing what we're doing

          7  here?

          8                 MR. McINNIS: Dade County in Florida

          9  does have a Fault Claims Act, and that's probably

         10  the closest to a municipality that's out there. New

         11  York City does not have one, that's for sure.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And do you know

         13  what the Dade County experience is?

         14                 MR. McINNIS: I don't.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         16                 Thank you very much for your

         17  testimony and your cooperation.

         18                 Your journal, or that newsletter, How

         19  Do You Defraud Us? Let Me Count The Ways, is that

         20  the name of it?

         21                 MR. McINNIS: It's available on line.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It's available

         23  on line?

         24                 MR. McINNIS: Www.taf.org.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, for the
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          2  computer challenge, can you send us a copy?

          3                 MR. McINNIS: I'd be happy to send you

          4  a copy --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          6  much. I appreciate it.

          7                 MR. McINNIS:-- Of the most recent

          8  issue.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you. I

         10  would appreciate it.

         11                 MR. McINNIS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Our next panel,

         13  Mr. John T. Boese. Count Boese, huh?

         14                 MR. BOESE: It's always been my

         15  nickname. It was my line coach's nickname for me

         16  when I played college football, your Honor.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The Count.

         18                 MR. BOESE: The Count.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Shelly Slade,

         20  and Neil V. Getnick.

         21                 MR. TOLLIN: Could you each raise your

         22  right hand.

         23                 Everybody can do it.

         24                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         25  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the
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          2  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 MR. BOESE: Yes.

          4                 MS. SLADE: Yes.

          5                 MR. GETNICK: Yes.

          6                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you. Could you,

          7  before giving your testimony, give your name and who

          8  you're affiliated with.

          9                 If we could start with Mr. Boese.

         10                 MR. BOESE: Good morning, Mr.

         11  Chairman.

         12                 My name is John T. Boese. You can

         13  call me Jack Boese or The Count. I'm a partner in

         14  the New York lawfirm of Fried, Frank, Harris,

         15  Shriver and Jacobson, which has its primary offices

         16  right near here at One New York Plaza.

         17                 I have always worked out of the

         18  Washington, D.C. office. I began my career in the

         19  Civil Division of the Justice Department, which is

         20  the division that enforces the civil False Claims

         21  Act inside, in the federal sector.

         22                 Since joining Fried Frank in 1977, my

         23  practice has heavily concentrated on representing

         24  defendants in False Claims Act cases brought by the

         25  federal Justice Department.

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 I very much appreciate the Council's

          3  invitation for me to testify today regarding the

          4  proposed New York City False Claims Act,

          5  particularly since I think I bring a different view,

          6  as a defense counsel who has studied and followed

          7  this law for over 20 years.

          8                 I am also the author of a two-volume

          9  treatise, Civil False Claims and Qui Tam Action,

         10  which has been published every year since 1993, has

         11  about 3,000 readers, which is pretty big for a law

         12  book, and has been cited by nine of the 11 Circuit

         13  Court of Appeals, and almost every Law Journal

         14  article on the topic.

         15                 I am also co-chair of the ABA Qui Tam

         16  Subcommittee, and I am regularly the Chair of the

         17  ABA Qui Tam National Institute, which I think Mr.

         18  McInnis said he attended last week. I was Chair of

         19  that National Institute. In short, I have done this

         20  virtually my entire professional life, and I have

         21  always represented defendants and I think I do bring

         22  you a different viewpoint.

         23                 I fully understand the Council's

         24  desire to avoid and punish fraud against the City

         25  treasury. After all, my daughter is a resident and
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          2  taxpayer of this City, and I don't want her taxpayer

          3  funds wasted.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Is she a

          5  registered voter?

          6                 MR. BOESE: Yes, she is. Just moved up

          7  here, but she's a registered voter up on 79th and

          8  Amsterdam.

          9                 Those anti-fraud laws, gentlemen,

         10  must be fair and reasonable, and most importantly

         11  those anti-fraud laws must be seen as fair and

         12  reasonable by the contractors and the individuals

         13  who do business with the City or receive money from

         14  the City.

         15                 The anti-fraud laws must be fair and

         16  reasonable, both in the liability imposed, and in

         17  the enforcement of the laws.

         18                 I heard, I will depart a bit from my

         19  prepared text. I heard this morning you were told

         20  that in fact United States borrowed qui tam

         21  enforcement, private qui tam placement enforcement

         22  from England in Colonial America. What had always

         23  amazed me is that no one told Congress when it was

         24  passed, when it was revising this law in 1958 -- in

         25  1986, that in 1958 England did away with all of its
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          2  qui tam laws. They eliminated all the informer laws,

          3  and there's an excellent article by Professor Randy

          4  Beck at University of Georgia about why England

          5  opposed, eliminated those laws. They eliminated

          6  those laws because they were perceived by the

          7  English citizenry as being unfair and abusive.

          8                 Now, I understand I have an uphill

          9  battle here convincing you not to pass a law,

         10  because I believe that those who commit fraud

         11  against the City should be punished, and they should

         12  be made to pay. But I am here to tell you that the

         13  defendants in these cases, especially those

         14  defendants who are not obvious defrauders, view

         15  these cases as unfair and unreasonable, and I have a

         16  few suggestions as to how you can change your law,

         17  who I think make it more fair and reasonable.

         18                 My biggest concern is the language in

         19  the various parts of the bill in which the

         20  Corporation Counsel of the City of New York, which

         21  as I understand it, will enforce the law,

         22  unnecessarily loses control of law enforcement and

         23  puts that enforcement in the hands of private

         24  plaintiffs attorneys.

         25                 I urge the Council to look carefully

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  at statistics compiled by the US Department of

          3  Justice on recovery, they release them every year.

          4                 The most recent was September of

          5  2003. What those statistics show, and actually I

          6  have the full set of statistics that I'll hand up at

          7  the end of my remarks, that the total amount

          8  recovered in qui tam cases in 1986, is just over

          9  $7.8 billion.

         10                 The total amount recovered in cases,

         11  where the Department of Justice intervened or

         12  pursued, was $7.5 billion. Now, that means that 95

         13  percent of the recoveries are in cases in which the

         14  Department of Justice or the US Attorneys offices

         15  around the country have intervened or taken over,

         16  and only five percent of these recoveries are in

         17  cases pursued by private attorneys.

         18                 I also have the data which Chairman

         19  Edwards was asking for, which is that 80 percent of

         20  these cases that are originally brought in the

         21  federal system are declined, are not intervened in

         22  by the government, in well over 80 percent of those

         23  cases that are declined, there is no recovery at

         24  all. And I'll return to those recoveries.

         25                 In the cases taken over by the
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          2  government, there is a recovery in 97 to 98 percent

          3  of the cases. To a defense lawyer like me, what is

          4  key to my clients is convincing the government not

          5  to intervene.

          6                 Now, I also heard someone, a

          7  plaintiff's lawyer on the prior panel, talk about

          8  getting recovery in cases in which the government

          9  does not intervene. And I admit, there are

         10  recoveries in those cases. What we tend to be are

         11  what we call in the business "cost of litigation

         12  settlements."

         13                 In other words, there is no provision

         14  in this bill for the defendants to get their legal

         15  fees paid, unless, and there is no provision. So, if

         16  you're a small business man or a small business

         17  woman and you're doing business with the City and

         18  you get sued under the False Claims Act and you're

         19  looking at treble damages and literally hundreds of

         20  millions of dollars in penalties, and you say to

         21  your client, it's going to cost you $100,000 to

         22  settle this case, the client says, let's offer

         23  $100,000 to the plaintiff. That's where most of

         24  these recoveries come from. And that, to me, is

         25  abusive.
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          2                 So, what I think you need, you really

          3  need here in the City of New York, you need leads.

          4  You need insiders coming to the City with

          5  information regarding fraud against the City. I

          6  believe that once the Corporation Counsel gets the

          7  leads and information, just like the Justice

          8  Department, they will pursue valid cases and they

          9  will not pursue invalid cases. And they'll probably

         10  win 95 to 98 percent of those cases that they

         11  pursue.

         12                 And the relators, just like in the

         13  federal system, will either lose their cases or they

         14  will get essential shaken down for a cost of

         15  litigation, a cost of litigation settlement.

         16                 Here are my specific suggestions.

         17  There are provisions in Section 804 of this bill,

         18  that essentially give far more power to the private

         19  attorneys, the Plaintiff Attorney Bar, in the New

         20  York City bill, than you give in the federal system.

         21                 In other words, there is a right, I

         22  believe it says there is a right to participate. I

         23  can't find it right now. Oh, in Section 8045, there

         24  is a provision that if the government intervenes

         25  they must share responsibility with the Plaintiffs
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          2  Bar, right? There's no reason to do that. If the

          3  Corporation Counsel, which I believe is full of very

          4  competent men and women, if they need the help of a

          5  private plaintiff bar, they can ask for that and

          6  they can get it. But this is enforcement of the law.

          7  This is the kind of activity that is uniquely left,

          8  for 250 years it's been uniquely left to our

          9  governments, and it's left to our governments

         10  because our citizens at least believe that the

         11  government is acting not for greed, not to line

         12  their own pockets, but they're acting for the

         13  benefit of the citizenry.

         14                 Once we include a Plaintiff Bar in

         15  this system, with shared responsibility, those

         16  citizens aren't going to believe they're being sued

         17  because they violated the law. They're going to

         18  believe they're sued to make money and to line the

         19  pockets of the qui tam plaintiffs and their counsel.

         20                 2) Many small businesses in the

         21  federal system complain that the enforcement of the

         22  federal False Claims Act has been unfair and even

         23  unconstitutional, for two reasons:

         24                 The loose definition of falsity, and

         25  the incredibly high civil penalty conduct, which is
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          2  not even intentionally fraudulent. Remember, you

          3  don't need to intend to defraud to violate this law,

          4  or the federal law. What you need is to be reckless.

          5  You need to be grossly negligent.

          6                 Now, we can all argue about what that

          7  means, but the law specifically says that there's no

          8  specific intent to defraud required, as there is in

          9  common law fraud.

         10                 So, I look at your bill, and

         11  particularly 8022, where you define false claims,

         12  and you refer to a false claim as being any claim,

         13  which is either in whole or in part false or

         14  fraudulent.

         15                 I've been doing this work for 25

         16  years, I'm really not sure I know what that means.

         17  Does the Council really mean that every minor

         18  falsity, no matter how immaterial results in treble

         19  damages and a maximum penalty $10,000? I believe

         20  it's unnecessary and I would eliminate that.

         21                 Even more important, Mr. Chairman,

         22  the mandatory penalty provision in Section 7-8031,

         23  requires a minimum penalty of $5,000 for every false

         24  claim, even if the damages are quite small. This has

         25  resulted in the federal system of numerous claims
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          2  that the fines are excessive and violate due process

          3  in equal protection and some of those claims have

          4  been successful in the court.

          5                 The government claims it needs these

          6  penalties, in addition, of course, to the treble

          7  damages that it receives, to make the government

          8  whole.  So, I have a proposed solution for you. Make

          9  the penalties higher. Raise them to 15,000, but do

         10  not make them mandatory. The language should be that

         11  if you submit a false claim, you're subjected to

         12  damages any civil penalty up to 15,000, and then

         13  leave it up to the court to decide how really

         14  despicable the activity was. And if it was really a

         15  case of negligence, perhaps a penalty is not in

         16  order, but give that discretion to the court.

         17                 Third, I am deeply disturbed, and I

         18  think your constituents will be also, in the

         19  language in Section 8049(d), which allows employees

         20  and City officials who learn of fraud in the course

         21  of their daily job to bring qui tam cases and profit

         22  from the knowledge they receive as a City employee.

         23  The federal government has consistently opposed such

         24  cases, in the proper belief that employees should

         25  bring this information to the attention of the
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          2  Corporation Counsel, as part of receiving a wage

          3  from the City.

          4                 You can imagine the outrage of a

          5  small business owner who is inspected by a City

          6  inspector and then finds herself the subject of

          7  suits for treble damages and extraordinary penalties

          8  by that same inspector.

          9                 The guidelines that are set forth in

         10  your bill is that you have to notify the Corporation

         11  Counsel to my mind or not enough.

         12                 One, you'll get in all kinds of

         13  disputes as to whether you gave notice or not. Many

         14  times difficult to determine. And two, it's just the

         15  idea of a City employee profiting personally for

         16  information that they learned as a City employee

         17  that frankly galls me.

         18                 Finally, I see no reason to give

         19  immunity from False Claims Act suits to City, senior

         20  City legislative and executive officials, found in

         21  Section 8049(g). If senior officials are cheating

         22  the City, they should be subject to the same damages

         23  and penalties as everyone else.

         24                 If you're concerned about abusive

         25  suits, my other suggestion that you allow the
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          2  Corporation Counsel to dismiss these cases in her

          3  own discretion would take care of that concern.

          4                 Thank you for allowing me to testify.

          5  I realize I've gone on a long time, but I'm probably

          6  the only defense lawyer you're going to hear from

          7  today, so thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to ask a

          9  question, because I know you're on a --

         10                 MR. BOESE: I do. I apologize, but I

         11  would like to get a 12:30 flight to Washington.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. Where are

         13  you going to get the plane at?

         14                 MR. BOESE: LaGuardia. I'll make it. I

         15  have one of those graduation things this afternoon,

         16  and I really would like to get home.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, we won't

         18  keep you much longer.

         19                 I guess we have about ten minutes?

         20                 MR. BOESE: Oh, yes. I'll take as long

         21  as I need to.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You defend the

         23  accused.

         24                 MR. BOESE: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And have you
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          2  lost any of your cases?

          3                 MR. BOESE: Yes, sir.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Then give us an

          5  example generally?

          6                 MR. BOESE: I said I lost them. I

          7  settle them.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

          9                 MR. BOESE: Rarely do these cases go

         10  to trial. In the federal system, I do not believe

         11  there's more than three trials a year, and there are

         12  three- to four-hundred of these cases filed every

         13  year. Very few of them go to trial.

         14                 What we find -- you know, I represent

         15  very large contractors, and I represent very small

         16  contractors. One of them -- I represent, for

         17  example, two weeks ago I was interviewing with a

         18  small drug treatment facility here in the City who

         19  has been sued under the federal law.

         20                 And in every one, what is important

         21  to understand is that every single person who

         22  touches, in your case, City money, in the federal

         23  case, federal money, is subject to a False Claims

         24  Act, it's not just contractors. And these cases have

         25  a far greater effect, frankly, upon small businesses

                                                            55

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  than they have on large businesses.

          3                 One of our biggest clients is

          4  Northrope Gomet (phonetic), which is an enormous

          5  government contractor. Well, they are very concerned

          6  whenever they get sued, right? For them to pay a

          7  million or two-million dollars to settle one of

          8  these cases is a blip for a small business man or

          9  woman to pay one of these cases.

         10                 So, what we end up doing is really

         11  settling these cases on the best terms we can, if we

         12  can't win it outright.

         13                 And we do win many of them outright.

         14  As I said, 80 percent of the unintervened cases we

         15  win. The other 20 percent we basically have to

         16  settle. Because when you have a small business and

         17  you're looking not only at paying somebody like me,

         18  which is expensive because you have to almost get a

         19  specialist in these cases, plus treble damages, plus

         20  civil penalties of up to $10,000 for each false

         21  claim, it doesn't take long for that business person

         22  to say, I've got to settle this case.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, the

         24  implication is that some of these cases are without

         25  merit, but to get through the hassle you'd settle?
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          2                 MR. BOESE: Absolutely, sir. Because

          3  you're being accused of fraud.

          4                 I mean, you could say, well, you

          5  should just try these cases and you'll win. Nobody

          6  pays your legal fees, and after Arthur Anderson,

          7  people understand again that if you try a case and

          8  you lose, you're out of business, and so are your

          9  employees.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You mentioned

         11  that England ended this qui tam practice 25 years

         12  ago?

         13                 MR. BOESE: I'm sorry, yes, sir, 1958.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: 1958, so that's

         15  56 years ago --

         16                 MR. BOESE: Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Forty-six years

         18  ago.

         19                 MR. BOESE: Forty-six years ago.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So what was the

         21  reason?

         22                 MR. BOESE: The reason was that the

         23  informer's laws in England were geared not just

         24  towards contractors, they were geared towards tax

         25  enforcement, they were geared towards a lot of other
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          2  areas that affected individuals. And what they were

          3  discovering was that the plaintiffs in these cases,

          4  the private plaintiffs, were going to other

          5  individuals and saying I'm going to file a qui tam

          6  case against you if you'd like to buy me off now,

          7  I'm happy to do that. So, the cases weren't being

          8  filed, the government wasn't benefitted and the

          9  defendants were still paying. And that's the reason

         10  that England -- and what Professor Beck says in his

         11  article, it's really too early to tell. I mean,

         12  after all England did it from the 13th century to

         13  1958, we've only been doing this for 150 year. So,

         14  it's hard to tell when that abuse will turn the tide

         15  of the citizenry against qui tam laws, but he has no

         16  doubt that it will.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: How did they end

         18  it, when you say they ended it?

         19                 MR. BOESE: House of Laws, your Honor.

         20  House of Commons and the House of Laws. It was a

         21  bill. They just eliminated all informer suits.

         22                 I'd be happy to send the article,

         23  Professor Beck's article, it gives the entire

         24  history of why England did away with informer suits.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very
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          2  much. I'd appreciate it if you'd send it to me.

          3                 MR. BOESE: We'll do that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

          5  Leroy Comrie has joined us. He's the Chairman of our

          6  Rules Committee, as well as our Majority Whip.

          7                 Thank you for being here. I know you

          8  did some graduations this morning.

          9                 Any other questions for this

         10  particular witness?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Is it because

         12  they were like rebuffed or they had a personal

         13  vendetta against the person?

         14                 MR. BOESE: Oh, I must tell you that

         15  almost all qui tam relators -- I mean, there's an

         16  old line that just because your paranoid doesn't

         17  mean everybody's not after you.

         18                 Just because you are rebuffed doesn't

         19  mean you are not right or wrong. But most qui tam

         20  cases are brought by former -- many, I won't say

         21  most, I don't know the statistics, and I am under

         22  oath, many, many qui tam cases are brought by former

         23  employees who are dismissed.

         24                 I don't really view those as the

         25  worst cases. The worst cases I review are

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  increasingly in the federal system. We are seeing

          3  qui tam cases brought by compliance auditors and

          4  internal compliance officers in companies, and

          5  internal auditors who are paid really to make things

          6  better and then sue the company to put money in

          7  their own pocket.

          8                 But almost everyone is someone who

          9  has been rebuffed in one way or the other.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         13  Yassky.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair. And, again, I appreciate your indulgence.

         16                 I appreciate your testimony, and I

         17  would say, your point about the government lawyers

         18  need to have a decisive role or a critical role is a

         19  good one. I would say that there would be cases

         20  where there were whistle-blowers who can't get the

         21  government to listen or maybe there is political

         22  sensitivity, the government doesn't want to listen,

         23  and I think we want to make sure there's an avenue

         24  for them too. But it has to be a balance between

         25  that and, you know, allowing nuisance.
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          2                 Do you have your thoughts?

          3                 MR. BOESE: Yes, I do. What a shock.

          4                 The one thing I guess that we all

          5  have to keep in mind in talking about a False Claims

          6  Act is that we're not talking about any individual's

          7  money, we're talking about the taxpayers' money, and

          8  we're talking about City money. In other words,

          9  we're not taking rights away from an individual who

         10  had harmed personally, we're talking about, now, I

         11  spent the first five years of my life in the Justice

         12  Department in a very difficult time.

         13                 I was a staff attorney, showed up one

         14  month before the Watergate break-in. I have a very

         15  high regard for government lawyers, and amazingly,

         16  despite my 32 years in Washington, I have an

         17  amazingly high regard for government employees, from

         18  a Legislative Branch to the Executive Branch to the

         19  Judicial Branch.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: It's not to

         21  spite your time in Washington, I think it's because

         22  of that.

         23                 MR. BOESE: Because of my time in

         24  Washington.

         25                 I'm like many, especially many people
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          2  in the private bar, I have a very high regard for

          3  them. I think they're honest and I think they do the

          4  right thing. If there are political reasons why a

          5  case shouldn't be brought, I think that's something

          6  that should be decided by the political entity.

          7                 For example, I was confronted really,

          8  because I give a lot of speeches, but I'm a bit

          9  controversial in the plaintiffs area, but to the

         10  plaintiffs, I have a speech and someone came up to

         11  me and said, you know, I'm suing a nursing home, and

         12  I want to -- under the False Claims Act because I

         13  want to shut them down. And I said, it's fine you

         14  want to shut them down, where are the people going

         15  to go? How are you going to explain that to them?

         16                 That's not your job. If the

         17  enforcement people in America want to shut that

         18  nursing home down, then they're doing it because

         19  it's the right thing to do. You're shutting it down

         20  because you want to put money in your pocket. And

         21  that's my problem.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Mr. Boese,

         23  excellent point. I agree in the context of,

         24  particularly in the context of certain kinds of

         25  impact litigation where people are trying to get
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          2  courts to take over government entities, and you

          3  know what? They're political trade offs that need to

          4  be made and they should be made by electorially

          5  accountable people. Agreed. Nonetheless, I think you

          6  will agree, there are cases, and unfortunately they

          7  arise more frequently than I wish they did, where

          8  the government, the politician's interest is in

          9  protecting himself, herself, not the public.

         10                 For example, a contract that was

         11  where there's fraud, whether the -- let's assume the

         12  government official didn't know about it, but

         13  nonetheless, it was on his watch. And, so, anything

         14  that comes out about that, we're down to his

         15  detriment.

         16                 Now they have a conflict between the

         17  personal interest and the public's interest, and our

         18  laws are full of mechanisms to try and make sure

         19  that the public interest has a way of being

         20  vindicated. I think this is one of those laws.

         21                 And we can't unfortunately always

         22  rely on a Mayor to want to unearth a scandal that

         23  occurred during his or her mayoralty because that

         24  may not be helpful. And this is the sort of statute

         25  that does that.
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          2                 But even beyond that, and I would

          3  like you to respond to both, even beyond that, I

          4  share your respect, admiration, for government

          5  employees. They are over-worked, under-resourced, as

          6  a rule, and it is my perception, my sense, that even

          7  though, again, the vast, vast folks who deal with

          8  the government on a contractual basis are absolutely

          9  honest, trying to do their best. They know that the

         10  level of oversight may not be the same, and, so, it

         11  may not be fraud, it may be laxity within the

         12  contract organization that allows somebody else to

         13  get away with something that they wouldn't get away

         14  with if they were dealing with Xerox, because

         15  they're worried that they're going to be held to

         16  account. And I just have got to believe that some of

         17  that gets pulled over on the New York City

         18  taxpayers, and that right now we're not getting at

         19  it.

         20                 MR. BOESE: I would like to respond to

         21  both points. As to the first point, on cover-ups.

         22  One thing we found in the federal system, and,

         23  again, you have just as many political pressures in

         24  the federal system, after all we have a vice

         25  president who used to be Chairman of a company that
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          2  is now under increasing attack, it couldn't make any

          3  greater political pressure there, and it doesn't

          4  work. My experience is that political pressure to

          5  cover up fraud doesn't work because it eventually

          6  ends up here, or it ends up in the New York Times,

          7  or it ends up somewhere else, and most politicians

          8  understand that when there's real fraud, covering it

          9  up is the worst possible thing to do. Number one.

         10                 Number two, that is why the

         11  enforcement of this law is not in the agency that

         12  cover it up. The enforcement of this law I believe

         13  should be in the Corporation Counsel's Office, where

         14  you have, I think, very dedicated young men and

         15  women who are willing to take it on.

         16                 As to the staffing in the Corporation

         17  Counsel's Office, when I was in the Civil Division

         18  and I didn't do False Claims Act work, but I was in

         19  the same division, they were in the office next door

         20  with three lawyers doing False Claims Act work.

         21  There's almost 90 lawyers doing False Claims Act

         22  Work now. Why? It's a profit center for the

         23  government. And the budget-makers are not fools,

         24  they put the lawyers where the money is, and most of

         25  those people.

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 Now, can private lawyers help?

          3  Certainly. Hire them. Believe me, you don't have to

          4  give out 30 percent of any recoveries you get in

          5  order to get a good lawyer to help you. You did it,

          6  the State did it for the tobacco litigation, you can

          7  hire private counsel for $250 an hour, they'll do a

          8  terrific job for you, and you don't have to give up

          9  the law enforcement efforts, and you don't have to

         10  have people think that they're being sued to line a

         11  lawyer's pocket and not because they violated the

         12  law.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Mr. Chair, I

         14  think that anecdote about three lawyers to 90 in the

         15  Justice Department is very instructive, and I hope

         16  we see something like that happen here. I hope a

         17  statute like this could help to spur the Corporation

         18  Counsel to do a better job. And I don't say that to

         19  criticize but to recognize the reality that they do

         20  not have the resources to do everything they need to

         21  do. Our Corp Counsel has juvenile justice claims,

         22  they're defending all kinds of lawsuits against the

         23  City itself. They're overburdened, and I think that

         24  this could give them some help.

         25                 But in the way that you're talking
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          2  about. I share your --

          3                 MR. BOESE: The State of California

          4  faced the same thing. When they first passed their

          5  State False Claims Act law they had virtually no

          6  one. Now I think they have a staff of 15, I think.

          7  It's either ten or 15 lawyers doing these cases full

          8  time.

          9                 But the key is to leave enforcement

         10  in the government. That's my --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         14  much for your testimony. And is it safe to say

         15  you're against this bill, in terms of allowing

         16  public citizens to engage in these types of

         17  activities?

         18                 MR. BOESE: I oppose the bill as it's

         19  currently written, yes. I oppose.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Can I follow

         21  up just on that?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Sure.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Because as I

         24  understand it, you've made I think three very

         25  specific suggestions for improving this legislation.
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          2  If it's improved in the way you described, do you

          3  think it's a useful tool for New York City?

          4                 MR. BOESE: I think, if your goal, as

          5  I think it should be, is to eliminate fraud, and you

          6  take out the abuses that I see in the law in the

          7  ways in my written remarks that I suggested, I think

          8  it's a legitimate exercise of your power, yes.

          9                 And I represent defendants, I can't

         10  say I support it, but I've tried to make this --

         11  I've tried to show you what the abuses that I've

         12  seen in the federal system and made sure that

         13  doesn't happen up here in New York.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: No, I just

         15  want to say, Mr. Boese, okay, it's actually four

         16  suggestions --

         17                 MR. BOESE: I've got a few more, if

         18  you want them.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I would

         20  encourage you to follow-up by e-mail to the

         21  Committee on those.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We do want them.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: You know, I

         24  first came across those when I was a lawyer in

         25  private practice representing a defense contractor
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          2  sued under the statute, otherwise how would you ever

          3  know this existed, and it was my very, very clear

          4  impression that the folks of that company knew that

          5  this statute is out there, and that gave a level of

          6  deterrence and a level of, you know, not that the

          7  government didn't still get ripped off from time to

          8  time, but that gave a level of attention that you

          9  might not otherwise have, and I think that, I would

         10  think that from your perspective you would see the

         11  same thing.

         12                 MR. BOESE: I understand it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         15  Comrie.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: With respect

         17  to the knowledge that this gentleman has, I didn't

         18  get his name because I came in during the meeting,

         19  he has a graduation to go to? Coming from Queens,

         20  the BQE was backed up going the other way. I don't

         21  know which way you're going, I don't know if you

         22  have lights and sirens, but I would strongly suggest

         23  --

         24                 MR. BOESE: Councilman, thank you very

         25  much. I appreciate it. And thank you all for
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          2  inviting me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: This is Jack

          4  Boese.

          5                 MR. BOESE: Jack Boese, right. You can

          6  call me "The Count." That's what my football coach

          7  called me, so...

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you for

          9  coming, Mr. Boese.

         10                 MR. BOESE: Thank you very much.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: You gave us

         12  some real information for the Committee, but I want

         13  you to make your family's obligation.

         14                 MR. BOESE: This is my friend Neil

         15  Getnick. Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. Next.

         17                 MS. SLADE: Good morning, Mr.

         18  Chairman, and other members of the Council who are

         19  here today. My name is Shelley Slade, and I'm with

         20  the law firm of Vogel and Slade. We represent qui

         21  tam plaintiffs under the Federal False Claims Act.

         22                 Thank you very much for the

         23  opportunity to testify concerning this bill, which

         24  will create a false claims remedy for the City of

         25  New York, as well as a private cause of action for
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          2  individuals with information concerning false claims

          3  presented to the City of New York.

          4                 After briefly summarizing my

          5  professional background to the Committee, I will

          6  offer my comments on the bill for consideration.

          7                 I bring to the hearing a perspective

          8  of both an attorney who has prosecuted False Claims

          9  Act matters and dealt with related policy and

         10  legislative issues on behalf of the federal

         11  government, and an attorney who has represented the

         12  private sector whistle-blowers who file these cases.

         13                 Between 1990 and 1997, I was a trial

         14  attorney in the Civil Fraud Unit of the Commercial

         15  Litigation Branch of the US Department of Justice.

         16                 That office is responsible for the

         17  largest and most significant False Claims Act

         18  actions in the country.

         19                 I handle cases alleging fraud against

         20  the Foreign Military Sales Program, the US Air

         21  Force, various Social Security Act programs, the US

         22  Department of Health and Human Services, and

         23  procurements under the multiple award schedule.

         24                 In 1998 I was named Senior Counsel

         25  for Health Care Fraud for the Civil Division of the
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          2  United States Department of Justice.

          3                 In that position I coordinated the

          4  Civil Division's Health Care Fraud enforcement work

          5  and other government agencies in the private sector

          6  and handled related policy and legislative issues.

          7                 For the last four years I have

          8  practiced law as a partner of Vogel and Slade. As

          9  I've mentioned, our firm specializes in the

         10  representation of qui tam plaintiffs.

         11                 The City Council, in my view, is very

         12  wise in considering False Claims Act legislation

         13  with the private cause of action modeled on the

         14  federal qui tam provision.

         15                 The federal qui tam provisions, as

         16  amended by the US Congress in 1986, are a shrewd,

         17  well crafted piece of legislation.

         18                 The United States recovered $4.8

         19  billion under the False Claims Act in five years

         20  between 1997 and 2001, with approximately 85 percent

         21  of an amount recovered in qui tam cases.

         22                 Moreover, with the help of the qui

         23  tam provision, the federal government received an

         24  excellent rate of return on its fraud and health

         25  care fraud enforcement at work.
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          2                 In the area of Medicare Fraud, the

          3  federal government received a nine-fold return on

          4  its investment. For every dollar that the federal

          5  government invests in investigation and prosecution

          6  of health care fraud, it recovers nine.

          7                 What rational business, given the

          8  chance, would not invest in an activity with that

          9  rate of return?

         10                 The private cause of action in the

         11  federal statute provides appropriate incentives, in

         12  my judgment, for insiders to come forward with

         13  evidence of fraud on the federal government. And by

         14  permitting recovery for even those whistle-blowers

         15  who participate in the schemes, the law acknowledges

         16  that sometimes it takes a rogue to capture rogue.

         17                 That is not to say, however, that the

         18  federal law is perfect. The drafters of this bill

         19  have identified, and have done an excellent job in

         20  the bill of remedying some of the problems with the

         21  federal statute.

         22                 For example, the bill prudently

         23  lengthens the initial period for government

         24  investigation while the complaint is under seal from

         25  60 days to 120 days, and spells out in more detail
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          2  the criteria the court should consider in

          3  determining the appropriate share of the recovery

          4  for the qui tam plaintiff.

          5                 I will also add that I am very

          6  supportive of the provisions in your bill that deal

          7  with the government informant. I think you have

          8  improved on the federal statute and that you have

          9  made clear the federal government employees who

         10  uncovers fraud during the course of his government

         11  work -- I'm sorry, a City employee who uncovers

         12  fraud in the course of his work for the City, needs

         13  to exhaust the avenues within the City government

         14  for reporting the fraud before he or she can then

         15  file a suit.

         16                 Today I would like to direct your

         17  attention to several additional deficiencies in the

         18  federal qui tam provisions that you could correct in

         19  your legislation.

         20                 In addition, I would like to discuss

         21  several ways in which some of the new language in

         22  your bill could be improved.

         23                 First, I'd like to talk about the

         24  public disclosure bar. This bar, as you know, is in

         25  the federal statute as well. The federal public
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          2  disclosure bar deprives the federal courts of

          3  jurisdiction over any false claims action that is

          4  based upon the public disclosure of the allegations

          5  or transactions in various settings, in criminal,

          6  civil and administrative hearings, in the media, in

          7  congressional administrative or GAO reports,

          8  hearings, audits or investigations.

          9                 Unless the person bringing the action

         10  is an original source of the information, and the

         11  federal statute goes on to define the meaning of

         12  original source.

         13                 Why I have not counted the cases, an

         14  educated guess is that the ambiguities in the

         15  so-called public disclosure bar of the Federal False

         16  Claims Act have generated more litigation than any

         17  other aspect of the Act. There are hundreds of cases

         18  litigating the ambiguities in the federal bar.

         19                 The bill before the Committee

         20  contains a public disclosure bar that is very

         21  similar to the one in the federal law. While it

         22  changes one substantive aspect of the federal

         23  provision, it fails to clarify some of the

         24  ambiguities that have spawned so many disputes.

         25                 First, the bill does not define the
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          2  meaning of "based upon." This language comes up in

          3  terms of whether or not a complaint is based upon

          4  something that's been publicly disclosed. Should

          5  "based upon" be interpreted to mean similar to? The

          6  allegations that have been publicly disclosed? Or

          7  derived from?

          8                 A second ambiguity comes in terms of

          9  the word "public," the term "public disclosure." How

         10  widely must information be disclosed to be

         11  considered public, for purposes of the public

         12  disclosure bar.

         13                 These are not academic issues. The

         14  Courts have hotly debated these issues.

         15                 For example, the disclosures during

         16  discovery and litigation between two private parties

         17  count as public disclosures?

         18                 Are disclosures by an investigator to

         19  a witness during a government investigation public

         20  disclosures?

         21                 Third, of the three ambiguities, I'd

         22  like to point out today this bill does not specify

         23  whether all key elements of the False Claims Act

         24  violation must be disclosed, and whether the

         25  particular defendant must be named, before the
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          2  public disclosure bar comes into play.

          3                 For example, does the disclosure of a

          4  false claims without an allegation of a knowing

          5  violation of the rules activate the bar?

          6                 And does the general sweeping

          7  statement that an entire industry is violating a

          8  program rule count? And, again, both of the issues

          9  have been hotly debated in the court.

         10                 Well, according to legislative

         11  history of the federal False Claims Act, the purpose

         12  of the public disclosure bar is to prohibit a qui

         13  tam plaintiff from making parasitic use of

         14  information concerning violations of the False

         15  Claims Law, but it's as available to the federal

         16  government as it is to the qui tam plaintiff.

         17                 Accordingly, and if you do address

         18  the issue of clarifying these ambiguities, I would

         19  recommend clarifying the bill as follows, that based

         20  upon means derived from. That covers the qui tam

         21  plaintiffs from making parasitic use of a public

         22  disclosure.

         23                 Secondly, that a public disclosure to

         24  be considered public must disseminate information to

         25  such an extent that it is likely to be seen by the
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          2  City government officials who handle False Claims

          3  Act matters.

          4                 And third, that the disclosures that

          5  activate the bar need to be disclosures that

          6  specifically reference the same type of knowing

          7  false claims, and by the same company or individual,

          8  as the ones that issue in this case.

          9                 A second area I'd like to address

         10  concerns the basic principle of setting a rogue to

         11  catch a rogue.

         12                 According to the original sponsor,

         13  the original 19th Century sponsor of the Federal

         14  False Claims Act, the Act's qui tam provisions were

         15  based "upon the old-fashioned idea of holding out a

         16  temptation, and 'setting a rogue to catch a rogue,'

         17  which is the safest and most expeditious way...of

         18  bringing rogues to justice." These were the remarks

         19  of Senator Howard in 1863.

         20                 In short, the U.S. Congress

         21  recognized that often the most valuable of fraud

         22  will come from participants in the fraud who, as

         23  insiders, both understand the workings of the scheme

         24  and are in a position to compile evidentiary proof.

         25                 Accordingly, the federal statute
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          2  neither prohibits participants in false claims

          3  schemes from filing qui tam actions, nor authorizes

          4  courts to reduce their share based merely on the

          5  fact that they participated in the fraud.

          6                 The federal statute prohibits

          7  participants from bringing an action only if they

          8  have been convicted as a result of their

          9  participation in the scheme, and authorizes courts

         10  to reduce their share below fifteen percent only if

         11  they "planned and initiated" the fraud. In this

         12  manner, the federal statute leaves in place

         13  appropriate incentives for all but the "driving

         14  forces" behind the schemes.

         15                 In contrast to federal law, and this

         16  may be an oversight, the bill currently before this

         17  Committee would permit a court to reduce a qui tam

         18  plaintiff's award down to zero whenever he or she

         19  "planned or initiated" the violation of the Act.

         20  The change in the language is from the word "and" to

         21  the word "or". And again, this is not academic. I've

         22  had cases where the fact that the word "and" was in

         23  there made all the difference in the world.

         24                 The language in the bill, in my view,

         25  is too broad. By allowing courts to reduce the share
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          2  for those who just "planned" submission of the false

          3  claims or preparation of the false record, the bill

          4  in effect would authorize courts to deny an award to

          5  any qui tam plaintiff who participated in the fraud;

          6  participation, it can be argued, almost always

          7  involves some planning, if only planning of one step

          8  of the transaction. And if you have any leeway in

          9  there, you know, arguments will be made.

         10                 Accordingly, the language in the

         11  current bill fails to provide appropriate incentives

         12  to the insiders to scams, the individuals who are

         13  often capable of providing the City with the most

         14  valuable information and evidence concerning the

         15  false claims.

         16                 I would recommend that the language

         17  be changed so that qui tam awards are reduced only

         18  when a qui tam plaintiff "planned and initiated", or

         19  simply "initiated" the fraud.

         20                 Third, the third area I would like to

         21  address, is the criteria relevant to the qui tam

         22  award.

         23                 The bill sets forth three criteria

         24  that should be considered by a court in deciding the

         25  percentage of the proceeds to be awarded to the qui
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          2  tam plaintiff, within the ranges that you set forth

          3  in your bill, which are appropriate ranges, in my

          4  view.

          5                 It does make sense to develop a list

          6  of criteria to guide the courts, and I think this is

          7  an improvement on the federal statute.

          8                 I would recommend, however, adding

          9  one criterion, and changing the third criterion

         10  listed in the current bill, just slightly.

         11                 As your staff likely is aware, the

         12  Department of Justice has issued internal guidelines

         13  for determining the appropriate share for qui tam

         14  plaintiffs in federal False Claims Act cases. These

         15  are available on the web, and I've given the site to

         16  the web location in my written testimony.

         17                 The following factor which is

         18  included in the Department's guidelines but omitted

         19  in the bill, is worthy of your consideration; and

         20  that is, when the allegations involved a

         21  "significant safety issue."

         22                 This criterion would be relevant in

         23  Medicaid fraud cases, for example, involving billing

         24  for medically unnecessary surgeries, and we see so

         25  many cases in this category, for elderly people for
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          2  whom, you know, surgery is a significant health

          3  risk.

          4                 Diluted medicines. I'm sure you heard

          5  of the case involving pharmacies that diluted

          6  chemotherapy to make a profit.

          7                 Medical procedures performed by

          8  unqualified personnel, unlicensed personnel, for

          9  example. Saves money for the provider but real risk

         10  for the patients.

         11                 And long-term care in a facility such

         12  as a nursing home with wholly inadequate staffing.

         13                 In such instances, the law should

         14  offer additional compensation to potential qui tam

         15  plaintiffs to encourage them to come forward to

         16  protect patients from harm, and to come forward

         17  quickly.

         18                 I often would recommend changing the

         19  wording of the third factor in the current bill --

         20                 MR. TOLLIN: If you would please sum

         21  up?

         22                 MS. SLADE: I'm sorry?

         23                 MR. TOLLIN: If you would please sum

         24  up, because we have to get to different witnesses.

         25                 MS. SLADE: To sum up? Oh, sure.
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          2                 I have an additional factor I discuss

          3  in here but I'll skip over that.

          4                 The final, and I think most important

          5  change I would recommend is with regard to

          6  attorneys' fees. The current bill has some

          7  ambiguity. One section suggests that attorneys' fees

          8  for the qui tam plaintiff are discretionary, with

          9  the courts having the discretion to award them or

         10  not to award them. The federal statute makes them

         11  mandatory. It is key for skilled, experienced qui

         12  tam counsel to have appropriate incentives to take

         13  these cases. You need the involvement of skilled

         14  counsel to screen the cases for you, so you're not

         15  flooded with frivolous cases. You need skilled

         16  counsel to help prepare the evidence in a lawful

         17  fashion, I should add, compile the documents, et

         18  cetera. Without such incentive, a guarantee of

         19  attorneys' fees if their client prevails, there will

         20  not be sufficient incentive for good counsel to take

         21  these cases looking only at the contingent share.

         22                 Thank you very much for an

         23  opportunity to present my views.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We don't have

         25  your testimony.
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          2                 MS. SLADE: I provided it over there.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Council Member Yassky, do you have a

          6  question?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I do have

          8  questions, but if you would rather wait until the

          9  end of the panel --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You'd rather

         11  wait, okay.

         12                 You can start your testimony.

         13                 MR. GETNICK: Okay.

         14                 Good afternoon. I'm Neil Getnick.

         15  First of all, the unusual experience of sitting next

         16  to my friend and adversary today at the same table,

         17  that was interesting.

         18                 Jack Boese and I speak a lot on

         19  panels together, but not typically sitting side by

         20  side and never in court. That was pleasant.

         21                 I am the Managing Partner of Getnick

         22  and Getnick, a firm based in Midtown New York. I see

         23  I'm identified in the Council hearing as also the

         24  Chair and President of the International Association

         25  of Independent Private Sector Inspectors General.
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          2  And like Tim McInnis, who testified earlier, I am

          3  also affiliated with Taxpayers Against Fraud. I am

          4  on the Board of Directors and Chair of the President

          5  Advisory Council. But I want to speak to you today

          6  in a personal capacity on behalf of Getnick and

          7  Getnick, as opposed to a representational capacity.

          8                 My remarks have been incorporated

          9  into a set of papers that I think it may make the

         10  most sense just to simply submit to you for your

         11  further consideration and to make a part of the

         12  record.

         13                 But I would like to speak to you to

         14  make some points and also perhaps respond to some of

         15  the things that Jack had to say and came up during

         16  the course of the hearing so far.

         17                 A little bit by way of our

         18  background, our firm's entire practice is a

         19  dedicated anti-fraud, anti-corruption pro business

         20  integrity practice. That's what we do. The partners

         21  are all former fraud prosecutors. We have a very

         22  rich and long history in the City of New York.

         23                 With respect to the False Claims Act,

         24  two cases that I should bring to your attention that

         25  pretty much tell you about where we stand in this
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          2  area. One is the 1996 case against Lab Corp, the

          3  Blood Diagnostic Laboratory, that was brought in the

          4  Southern District of New York, it was a $182 million

          5  recovery for the federal government. At the time it

          6  was the largest False Claims Act recovery in U.S.

          7  history. It remains to this day the largest recovery

          8  in the Southern District of New York.

          9                 Last year, in a case against Bear

         10  Pharmaceutical, concentrating on medical fraud, we

         11  recovered a $251 million recovery for the federal

         12  government, and because it was Medicaid, $15 million

         13  of that recovery came back to New York State.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: By the way, what

         15  percentage of that goes to the government?

         16                 MR. GETNICK: You mean in terms of

         17  what went to the relator, versus what went to the

         18  government?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes.

         20                 MR. GETNICK: I have somewhat of a

         21  caveat there, and the reason is that in a Medicaid

         22  case, there's approximately 50 percent federal, 50

         23  percent state. The only avenue for a recovery is on

         24  the federal side. So, there's a very substantial

         25  reduction of the relator's share.
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          2                 In this particular case it was a $251

          3  million recovery, approximately 24 percent of the

          4  federal side of that recovery went to the relator,

          5  which is approximately 12 percent of the overall

          6  recovery, because of the State side.

          7                 The $15 million that went back to New

          8  York State, that was free and clear to New York

          9  State. No portion of that was shared in by the

         10  relator.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So is that about

         12  $25 million?

         13                 MR. GETNICK: That was a $32 million

         14  recovery to the relator.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, thank you.

         16                 MR. GETNICK: In that regard, and

         17  that's a good place to start, I could tell you that

         18  we've been doing this for over ten years now, and a

         19  lot of our experience, like Tim McInnis told you

         20  earlier, is sitting down with people who come to our

         21  office, they don't have a finely-tuned knowledge of

         22  what this law is, and they start to tell us about

         23  the significant fraud, and low and behold it's not

         24  against the Federal Treasury, against either New

         25  York State or New York City. And then we spend the
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          2  rest of that meeting explaining to them you have a

          3  very serious issue that you've raised. There is

          4  clear fraud that has taken place. There is no remedy

          5  under the False Claims Act which in any way gives

          6  you standing to go forward.

          7                 If you want to take the risk of being

          8  a whistle-blower and come forward, if you want to go

          9  to the District Attorney's Office, or the State

         10  Attorney General's Office, or the Southern District

         11  of New York or the Department of Investigation, we

         12  will be happy to bring you there on a pro bono

         13  basis, but almost consistently, in fact, I would

         14  say, with 100 percent consistency, when people learn

         15  that there's all the down side and none of the up

         16  side, these cases don't get pursued.

         17                 And it was interesting to hear Tim

         18  McInnis, who also has his office in Midtown, say

         19  that his experience is very much the same.

         20                 So, we know, at least anecdotally,

         21  that there are important cases that are falling

         22  through the crack.

         23                 I just wanted to say something by way

         24  of context here, as well, about this bill, and I'm

         25  so appreciative of Councilman Yassky having
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          2  submitted this bill.

          3                 I think that this bill really is in a

          4  larger context the next step forward in what really

          5  has been a decade of very innovative and effective

          6  measures cast by this Council in conjunction with

          7  the City Administration to fight fraud. And I'm

          8  referring to the Fulton Fish Market Bill, the Hunt's

          9  Point Fruit and Vegetable Market Bill, the Trade

         10  Waste Industry Bill, creation of the Trade Waste

         11  Commission, the movement of the Trade Waste

         12  Commission now into a Business Integrity Commission,

         13  the Department of Investigation use of private

         14  resources, particularly what this mechanism I

         15  referred to called IPSIG, Independent Private Sector

         16  Inspector General, which are independent monitors

         17  coming from the private sector.

         18                 And in that regard we've had a lot of

         19  experience. We were one of the four integrity

         20  monitors that were put on the World Trade Center

         21  Clean-Up. We had a 24 hour/7 presence for months. A

         22  trailer on the site with a team of lawyers,

         23  investigators and accountants. And I can tell you,

         24  the first thing that I told my team was, no qui tam.

         25  That is our standard. I do not want to find out

                                                            89

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  three years or five years down the road that there

          3  is some qui tam relator that has come forward and

          4  proven that there's lots of fraud going on down here

          5  that we didn't discover as the monitor.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Did you discover

          7  any fraud?

          8                 MR. GETNICK: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         10                 MR. GETNICK: We did. And we had just

         11  a great experience working in a multi-agency

         12  context, and I'm talking Department of

         13  Investigation, Eastern District of New York,

         14  Southern District of New York, Manhattan DA's

         15  office, Federal Emergency Management Agency, it's

         16  truly an extraordinary experience of people coming

         17  together and making things work.

         18                 I will tell you that it is

         19  significant when you are operating, either as a

         20  government official or as a private adjunct to the

         21  government, to know there is a qui tam statute out

         22  there, because you better get it right. If you don't

         23  get it right, you're going to be terribly

         24  embarrassed when someone steps up and says you

         25  missed it. You missed it in a big way. So, having a
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          2  qui tam statute out there makes for a more efficient

          3  and more effective law enforcement response.

          4                 In addition to that, what I wanted to

          5  say is that, I heard a bunch of examples here that

          6  I've really got to talk about, and I wish Jack was

          7  here because, you know, we go back and forth on some

          8  of this, and sometimes it sort of has an

          9  entertaining aspect to it when you're doing these

         10  CLE conferences, but this is really serious stuff in

         11  terms of policy.

         12                 So, I want to point out what I think

         13  are accurate, but not fully explored things which

         14  have gone before the Council.

         15                 For example, the England example.

         16  Okay, fine, England did away with this law, but

         17  understand that the UK has an entirely different

         18  approach in its legal system than we have. The UK

         19  has an approach of loser pays. If you lose your

         20  lawsuit, you've got to pay. Well, what does that

         21  mean? Guess what? No one brings class action cases,

         22  no one brings environmental cases, no one brings

         23  civil rights cases, no one brings product liability

         24  cases. The system is designed intentionally to

         25  thwart private plaintiffs in order to incentivize
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          2  companies to do business there without the concern

          3  about these citizen initiatives.

          4                 I think we've taken a different

          5  approach in this country, and I think we're a lot

          6  better off because of it.

          7                 Second of all, this idea of

          8  intervention. This is a very tricky concept, and let

          9  me try to explain it as best I can.

         10                 When you bring a case like this, I

         11  have a seven-person firm, the single thing that I'm

         12  looking to do as soon as possible is to convince the

         13  government, this is like the most important thing

         14  that ever walked in the door, they love this case,

         15  they want to be a part of this case, they want to

         16  throw resources at this case. That's the only way

         17  I'm going to go up against Bear Pharmaceutical and

         18  win. I've got a $251 million case that I brought in.

         19  Just do the math in terms of the cost of the

         20  capital. At five percent a year they can throw $12.5

         21  million at that case, just bounce it around by way

         22  of war of attrition, and they're winning. Just

         23  because they're delaying the ultimate verdict in

         24  terms of the cost of the revenue.

         25                 So, yes, I want the government on my
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          2  side. That means that when we interview, we reject,

          3  out of every 25 to 40 cases that walks in the door,

          4  we take one, and it's designed to meet that

          5  intervention standard.

          6                 And there are times that despite our

          7  best due diligence, it turns out the government

          8  doesn't want to go forward.

          9                 What's an example? An example might

         10  be where a company has reached out to a middle level

         11  or low level government employee, and asks for a

         12  confort (phonetic) letter, and because the official

         13  didn't fully understand, they issued a confort

         14  (phonetic) letter that said this is an okay

         15  practice, and it turns out the official was wrong,

         16  it's not an okay practice.

         17                 Well, there is still the opportunity

         18  for the government to get compensated, but there is

         19  no action that's going to go forward in terms of a

         20  false claim, because they're holding the

         21  government's confort (phonetic) letter.

         22                 Well, naturally when we come in, we

         23  don't know about such a thing. We can't know about

         24  such a thing, and when we learn about it, we

         25  voluntarily withdraw from the case. That's what
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          2  we're talking about when we say that these

          3  intervention cases really are the distinguishing

          4  point.

          5                 It's really very deceptive to say we

          6  win 80 percent of these cases. Most of these cases

          7  don't even nose about (sic) because the case is

          8  filed under seal, the government determines it

          9  doesn't want to go forward, it sits down with

         10  counsel and the relator and explains the situation

         11  and it gets voluntarily withdrawn. No one ever hears

         12  about the case. So, 80 percent we win is a nice way

         13  to look at it, but it's a little bit of smoke and

         14  mirrors.

         15                 Now, the other idea about the private

         16  attorney. What you're saying in your statute,

         17  frankly, is an improvement over the federal language

         18  in talking about shared responsibility. That's

         19  exactly what you want to have. I want the government

         20  there for the reason I said, and believe me, the

         21  government wants us there. We have worked the case

         22  up, we've put the hours in, we have packaged the

         23  case, and we're ready to stand toe-to-toe with them.

         24  We may do the database work for them, we may assign

         25  a group of accountants to do forensic accounting, we
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          2  may assign a team of investigators that are going to

          3  go through boxes and boxes and boxes of documents,

          4  and the government loves that because they may not

          5  have the resources to do that. So, a shared

          6  responsibility is exactly what it is.

          7                 The single most important aspect of

          8  having a private attorney is that you are going to

          9  learn about things you otherwise would not learn

         10  about.

         11                 That's the most important aspect of

         12  that. There are people who have this information,

         13  and they're not accessing the government right now.

         14  What you want to do is to get that information over

         15  to the government, and by having this law on the

         16  books, by going to private counsel, it gets

         17  screened, it gets packaged and the information comes

         18  back to the government, information that otherwise

         19  wouldn't be there.

         20                 You could set up an office with 25

         21  people, but you've got to get the information to

         22  them. You must get the information to them. And as I

         23  said before, just our cases alone have brought back

         24  over $400 million to the government, we never could

         25  have done those cases without the government, the
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          2  government wouldn't have had the opportunity to do

          3  those cases without us.

          4                 As Shelley has pointed out, the

          5  language about present or former employees, is

          6  exactly what you want to say. It's an improvement on

          7  the federal statute. And I'll share something with

          8  you as to why the federal statute remains unfixed,

          9  if you will.

         10                 The federal statute basically says

         11  anyone can bring one of these cases, which means any

         12  government employee can bring one of these cases.

         13  And people realized about six or seven years in that

         14  what you really want to say is what you said, which

         15  is, yes, you can bring such a case when you've

         16  exhausted your remedies.

         17                 Why do you want that provision in?

         18  Why do you want a current employee or a former

         19  employee the opportunity to do that?

         20                 In order to keep the system honest.

         21  If you have some type of fraud conspiracy or bribe

         22  situation that's going on involving someone in a

         23  responsible position, you don't want that person in

         24  that position to basically be able to shut down a

         25  case that someone who is under them in an agency is
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          2  trying to bring to the fore.

          3                 And, so, it's not so much that you

          4  want these cases to come on the basis of current or

          5  former employees. Again, you want it on the books so

          6  that people realize that there is going to be a

          7  route in and therefore don't commit the fraud in the

          8  first place.

          9                 And the reason that it hasn't gotten

         10  fixed on the federal side is very simple. Everyone

         11  is afraid to reopen the debate on the bill because

         12  the health care and the defense industry lobbyists

         13  will come in and when we try to do this minor fix,

         14  they're going to wreak havoc with the bill, so it

         15  just sort of stays unfixed. But you have an

         16  opportunity to get it right from the first time.

         17                 The other point that Jack made,

         18  because sometimes people say they want to shut a

         19  facility down, and is that right? Well, it is right

         20  from time to time. It is right, for example, when

         21  you go beyond just the abuse of taking dollars out

         22  of the system, and begin to move over into the area

         23  of patient abuse. So, you heard him mention nursing

         24  homes.

         25                 Very quickly, the Ready Hospital
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          2  cases within the last year, Ready Hospital is part

          3  of a Tenet (phonetic) Health Care chain out in

          4  California. It was the most successful, the most

          5  successful hospital that Tenet was running in the

          6  entire United States, nine times more profitable

          7  than any other facility in its geographical region

          8  for Tenet or anyone else. Why? Because two doctors

          9  got it in their head that they thought it would be a

         10  great idea to lie to the patients in their coronary

         11  unit and perform bypass surgeries on everyone who

         12  came through the unit that they could get their

         13  hands on.

         14                 I'm not making that up. That's not a

         15  science fiction movie. That's a real case. Tenet

         16  paid $50 million in August of last year to resolve

         17  that case. Yes, shut them down. That is a reasonable

         18  goal in a situation like that.

         19                 The one thing that I see in your bill

         20  that you may want to give some thought to is this

         21  provision that says that when you're making awards

         22  to the qui tam plaintiff, you want to take into

         23  account the extent to which the damages to the City

         24  could have been litigated, if the qui tam plaintiffs

         25  knowledge and information had been brought
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          2  immediately to the attention of the appropriate

          3  authorities.

          4                 That sounds reasonable but it may not

          5  be practical.

          6                 Our experience with whistle-blowers

          7  is that this is a tentative process that begins when

          8  someone realizes that something is wrong. It begins

          9  to eat away at them. They try to access people

         10  within their own company. They may talk to

         11  compliance officers. They may do any of the number

         12  of things, and finally the prospect to continue to

         13  go along becomes too much, and they come forward and

         14  they become whistle-blowers.

         15                 That doesn't happen in a minute, it

         16  doesn't happen in an hour, it doesn't happen in a

         17  day, a week or a month. Sometimes it can take

         18  months. Sometimes it can take over a year. But the

         19  fact of the matter is, that you want to incentivize

         20  these people to come forward, not to have them say,

         21  well, I've let a year go by at this point, so I may

         22  as well continue to go along because I'm going to be

         23  knocked out of the statute. That's something you

         24  want to avoid.

         25                 Then a last point I want to raise,
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          2  and it may be the single, most important thing I

          3  have to say today, is a potential procedural issue

          4  that has to be addressed by legal counsel, and that

          5  is, it is absolutely essential to this bill that you

          6  have a ceiling provision, which you do. In other

          7  words, that when you bring the action, it stays

          8  under seal for a period of time so that the

          9  governmental authority can investigate the case

         10  without the cover being blown.

         11                 Absolutely essential to the qui tam

         12  law, every statute has it, federal and state, yours

         13  as well.

         14                 The one issue that makes New York

         15  City a little bit different than other jurisdictions

         16  is that we have on the one hand a City government

         17  and on the other hand a state judicial system. So,

         18  the question becomes, how can we pass legislation

         19  through the City Council with a ceiling provision

         20  that attempts to pose that on the State Court

         21  system.

         22                 I do not know the answer to that

         23  question. I can tell you that this potential

         24  legislative approach was examined maybe within the

         25  last ten years by the Public Advocate's Office, when
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          2  Mark Green occupied that position, and ultimately

          3  they never solved that problem. You may want to be

          4  reaching out to Laura Eisner, who was General

          5  Counsel at that time. I know that she studied that

          6  issue at the time, and it ended up being a stumbling

          7  block at that point in time.

          8                 So, it's something that at least you

          9  want to be focusing on as something that needs to be

         10  addressed and responded to, if the issue comes up.

         11                 That's essentially what I wanted to

         12  say by way of informal remarks. If you look at my

         13  formal remarks, I'm talking about the history of the

         14  bill and its track record and why I think it's

         15  relevant to New York City.

         16                 But again I will say I just think

         17  that we have an extraordinary history in this City

         18  in the last ten years. The things that we have done

         19  in the various industries that I have mentioned are

         20  unprecedented. Our ability to combine public sector

         21  and private sector resources effectively are really

         22  leading edge and I think that this bill is another

         23  good example of taking that one step further and

         24  capitalizing, frankly, on a set of relationships

         25  that already exist in New York City to a much
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          2  greater extent than anywhere else in the country.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 The earlier panel discussed the types

          6  of cases that might be right so-to-speak for in New

          7  York City, construction contracts. Do you have any

          8  thoughts on what areas would fall into this law?

          9                 MR. GETNICK: Well, let me say at this

         10  point that, just from the federal perspective, some

         11  of the areas that have been pursued very

         12  effectively, and I mention this in my written

         13  remarks, are defense procurement, health care, oil

         14  and gas leases, securities, construction, computers,

         15  environmental testing.

         16                 But, you know, you could almost

         17  answer that question, if you will, to some extent,

         18  if you'd just focus on school construction, and the

         19  Board of Education, and you ask yourself how many

         20  ways can the City improve education, and how many

         21  ways can the City improve its educational

         22  infrastructure, by getting people to build things or

         23  provide things in the school system? And,

         24  unfortunately, the flipside of that discussion is

         25  how many ways the City can get ripped off in the
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          2  process.

          3                 So, you have all aspects of

          4  construction, all aspects of the purchase of

          5  equipment, all aspects in terms of the provision of

          6  services, all of these things, all of these

          7  contracts are opportunities for us to get the

          8  benefit, and at the same time, the possibility of

          9  getting ripped off.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         11  Yassky.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Chair Perkins,

         13  I'd like to answer that question, if I may.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: What got me

         16  thinking about this idea is an episode two years ago

         17  with a school in my district you reminded me of,

         18  where I asked the Board, the then Board of

         19  Education, to move one of those portable classroom

         20  units, you know, the trailers from one school to

         21  another school, because it wasn't needed where it

         22  was, and they wanted to open two more classes.

         23  Twenty blocks. Through happenstance, they go and

         24  they pick up the trailer and they move it, through

         25  happenstance I learned what they paid for that,
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          2  $539,000.

          3                 To pick up the trailer, you have to

          4  do some electrical and plumbing to disconnect it

          5  where it is, and then reconnect it at the real

          6  school. $539,000 for that project. I said this is

          7  impossible, I want to see the paperwork. I got a big

          8  stack, the whole, you know, bid, there were three

          9  bids on it. They said this was bid, it was the

         10  lowest bid. There were three bids, 539, 750,000,

         11  1,100,000.

         12                 Now, as good as my staff is, they're

         13  not investigators out there, and they're not going

         14  to make a case out of this, but my point being, and

         15  this was one thing out of randomly almost picked, I

         16  cannot believe that there was not some level of

         17  ripping off New York City and our taxpayers in that

         18  transaction. And the goal here is to allow these

         19  folks, and I'll tell you, I never met either of

         20  these here, or any of our panel, but thank you very

         21  much personally for your taking the time to come and

         22  share your expertise here. The goal is to bring

         23  their expertise and resource to bear on behalf of

         24  our taxpayers.

         25                 You mentioned during your testimony
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          2  that you've had folks come in and there were claims

          3  that you could not pursue, what sorts, I'm not

          4  asking for companies, but what sorts of -- again,

          5  what sorts of industry or contractors would you say

          6  based on that you're likely to be able to bring

          7  suit?

          8                 MR. GETNICK: Particularly in the

          9  construction industry.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes.

         11                 MR. GETNICK: Particularly in the

         12  construction industry.

         13                 Let me share with you some of my

         14  experience doing IPSIG work, private monitoring

         15  work; and that is, that it's very, very tough for

         16  well-meaning people and well-meaning companies at

         17  times to do the right thing in infiltrated

         18  industries. It is tough. It's very tough when you

         19  want to do your project and do it the right way and

         20  a labor extortion group shows up and they say, if

         21  you don't pay us off, if you don't put no-show

         22  people on this job, we're going to start destroying

         23  property first and we're going to start hurting your

         24  people second.

         25                 That is a commonplace reality on
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          2  construction sites all over this City. And one of

          3  the most interesting experiences we have had as

          4  imposed monitors is that companies who end up having

          5  us imposed for some reason, end up turning to the

          6  monitor and saying, okay, fine, you're looking over

          7  our shoulder, but can you help us deal with this

          8  situation? Can you help us deal with extortion

          9  rackets that are going on? So, the reality is is

         10  that most people want to do the right thing, and

         11  what we have to do is to keep giving them tools to

         12  make that easier.

         13                 All this work that I've been talking

         14  about, the last decade here, we sort of take it for

         15  granted, it's unique. No one else is doing anything

         16  like it anywhere else in the country. It's a unique

         17  New York City story.

         18                 This bill is very much, very much a

         19  part of that, and we know in a sense the market is

         20  there, Councilman Yassky, again for the reason that

         21  you have raised, people are coming in with the

         22  knowledge, with the information, ready to bring

         23  these suits, but right now there is no statute to

         24  accommodate them.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.
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          2  Well, thank you very much.

          3                 Ms. Slade, I just have two questions.

          4                 You offered many very, very helpful

          5  suggestions that I'm going to prevail on, I'm going

          6  to ask the Committee to take into account, if they

          7  consider this further, because I think it's

          8  extremely useful. And I just want to say you

          9  complimented the drafting of the bill.

         10                 Mr. Chair, I think this Committee was

         11  very well served by its counsel Matthew Tollin. I

         12  know a lot of time, and there are a lot of projects

         13  with the Committee, I know a lot of time went into

         14  drafting this and this is just a first-rate work

         15  product, and so you're very well served, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you. I

         17  agree.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: You raised

         19  issues, Ms. Slade, with the public disclosure

         20  provision that's designed to stop what you call

         21  "parasitic" use of public disclosures. And in your

         22  testimony you go through some of the litigation

         23  problems that arise from trying to do that bar, and

         24  I can picture how that might happen, so here is my

         25  question.
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          2                 The goal is, we want folks to bring

          3  in suits that otherwise are not going to be brought,

          4  and catch fraud that otherwise is not going to be

          5  addressed. But if the government is already doing

          6  it, then there is no reason to needlessly enrich the

          7  private person.

          8                 Why not simply have the standard be,

          9  if there's a case file open, in the Corp Counsel, in

         10  the Justice Department, if you will, the Corporation

         11  Counsel's Office and the Lawyer in the Mayor's

         12  Office, then a private suit is too late.

         13                 But if not, then even if there's been

         14  a public disclosure, you know, the Department of

         15  Transportation puts out some press release, but

         16  that's not saying this happened, but the fact is

         17  that's not going to result in any recovery to the

         18  City, then even if it's parasitic, it's frankly

         19  still a useful suit. And then rather than have to

         20  say, well, did you bring suit because you saw the

         21  press release, or because you learned of it some

         22  other way, why not have that simply be the bar; is

         23  that practicable?

         24                 MS. SLADE: I would not recommend

         25  that. Between 1943 I believe, and 1986, the federal
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          2  statute had just such a bar, basically a government

          3  working on the case sort of a bar. There was a

          4  dramatic decline in the number of qui tam cases that

          5  were brought. Just because there was a deterrent to

          6  those cases, the potential informants had no way of

          7  knowing whether or not they might do all this work

          8  to prepare their case --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I see.

         10                 MS. SLADE: Jeopardize their courier,

         11  file the case, only to find that the government

         12  already had some information in some file somewhere

         13  and they were barred. But they were barred at great

         14  cost to themselves, fired, black-balled in the

         15  industry, et cetera.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I see. So,

         17  you're saying experience shows that that type of a

         18  bar does not work.

         19                 MS. SLADE: It does not work. It's a

         20  public disclosure bar, it is a good one with some

         21  tweaking. And just as Neil mentioned, the Congress

         22  would do the tweaking but for their concern about

         23  opening up the statute to manipulation by the

         24  defense contractors and the pharmaceutical

         25  companies.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, I get

          3  it.

          4                 MS. SLADE: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I did not know

          6  of that experience. So, that's very useful. Thank

          7  you.

          8                 MR. GETNICK: Could I just add one

          9  thing? The point that you raise about what likely

         10  might happen, that's the reality. If you, after

         11  resolving one of these cases, sit down with the

         12  Justice Department, and now you're talking about

         13  relator share, it's not at all unusual to have DOJ

         14  come in with a book, and they've done a lexus-nexus

         15  check, and, fine. You know, the most obscure article

         16  that showed up in some trade publication with a

         17  circulation of five and it predates your complaint

         18  by three months, and now you're negotiating on the

         19  basis of whether or not your case followed a public

         20  disclosure. And the issue that everyone understands

         21  from the outset that in no way did anyone ever see

         22  this, in no way did it ever influence the case, no

         23  longer becomes the topic of discussion. So, that's a

         24  real issue that you're raising.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes. And I
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          2  won't take the Committee's time, but I think that I

          3  like to think through and maybe can draw on your

          4  expertise with the Council, as well, to maybe

          5  there's a better solution than that one.

          6                 My only last question is, it's on

          7  this because I think this is important, the question

          8  of preventing a conspirator, if you will, from

          9  profiting. And this bill was drafted to say anyone

         10  can plan or initiate it, and you recommend changing

         11  that to "and," I have to tell you that initially I

         12  resist that suggestion because you could easily have

         13  somebody who advised and is in effect a conspirator,

         14  suggested how to do the fraud, even help the person

         15  in their company figure out how to do it, and then

         16  goes back and wants to cash in. So, would it be

         17  possible to have a standard, like a conspiracy

         18  standard, where someone who renounces the

         19  conspiracy; in other words, and makes an effort to

         20  prevent the fraud, that person then can benefit, but

         21  that once you're a conspirator, you can't benefit

         22  without effectively renouncing the conspiracy. Just

         23  from your experience, does that sound like a

         24  standard that might be workable?

         25                 MS. SLADE: I think the term
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          2  conspirator may be better than the term planner, in

          3  that a planner can be a low-level person who carries

          4  out instructions from their boss, we want to do it

          5  this way, get it done. And it can be argued, and

          6  that's the concern, the defendants will try to

          7  convince the City that this person --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes, but so

          9  can a conspirator. You know, I mean a conspirator is

         10  anyone who knows that the City wants it to succeed

         11  and does something to help. Frankly, just agrees to

         12  help it.

         13                 MS. SLADE: An initiator or

         14  conspirator might be better than planner.

         15                 MR. GETNICK: Although I certainly

         16  agree with the overall point that Shelley is making,

         17  I would again question the word "conspirator." I

         18  think it takes in more than you want, because

         19  literally anyone who commits an overt act is part of

         20  the conspiracy. Someone who takes the letter and

         21  puts it in the envelope and puts that in the mail is

         22  part of the conspiracy, having performed an overt

         23  act.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I see. Right.

         25                 MR. GETNICK: The wording in the
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          2  federal statute, which I would hearken back to, is

          3  major planner or initiator. Major planner or

          4  initiator, which I think takes in exactly what

          5  you're concerned about, and doesn't have some of the

          6  over-reaching --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Perhaps adding

          8  some kind of substantial activity qualifier to

          9  planning and initiating is the way to handle it.

         10                 Okay, thank you. I don't want to tax,

         11  I know that this hearing has already run quite long.

         12  Mr. Chair, thank you so much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you both

         14  very much.

         15                 MR. GETNICK: Can I?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, sir.

         17                 MR. GETNICK: I just wanted to say one

         18  last thing. I didn't realize that Mr. Tollin was the

         19  principle author of the statute. I had only

         20  experienced Mr. Tollin in putting together this

         21  hearing, and I just wanted to acknowledge what a

         22  very significant contribution as counsel to this

         23  Committee he made in putting this group together.

         24  When I walked in and saw Jack Boese, I realized I

         25  had my work cut out for me because you managed to
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          2  bring in really the principle opponent to qui tam

          3  and to bring him up to Washington for that purpose,

          4  I think it made for a better hearing. And I think

          5  you heard from virtually everyone who testified,

          6  including Jack, that in many ways the bill that you

          7  have drafted has some significant improvements over

          8  the current federal and state prototype. So, it's a

          9  really great service and I wanted to acknowledge it

         10  on this side.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         12  much for the acknowledgment, and clearly, we echo

         13  your applause of our counsel, which serves us well.

         14                 And we very much appreciate your

         15  attendance in this hearing and our future

         16  deliberations on this particular bill.

         17                 We have heard from the

         18  Administration, and we expect that they will be

         19  available at future hearings to share with us some

         20  of their interests on this matter.

         21                 The preliminary conversations with

         22  them seem to suggest that we may find some common

         23  ground. And through Matthew, through, I believe, our

         24  Counsel, we will be setting up some sessions,

         25  Council Member Yassky, to see where we can find
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          2  common ground on behalf of the people.

          3                 So, thank you very much for your

          4  testimony. And we would appreciate whatever copies

          5  of your testimony you can provide us and any other

          6  resources you can would be helpful.

          7                 MR. GETNICK: Our office remains

          8  completely open to you in any way that we can be of

          9  help. You can consider us your back office.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 MS. SLADE: The same is true for our

         13  office in DC as well.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Oh, great.

         15                 So, we'll be over there soon. No

         16  charge.

         17                 Meeting adjourned.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 12:25 p.m.)
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